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Issues relating to International Surrogacy Arrangements and Achieving Parental Recog-
nition: Discussion (Resumed)

Chairman: Good morning everyone.  We will have two sessions today.  In our first session 
we will resume consideration of issues faced by same-sex couples, both male and female, enter-
ing international surrogacy arrangements and achieving parental recognition.  On behalf of the 
committee, I welcome Ms Fiona Duffy and Ms Claire O’Connell from LGBT Ireland.  From 
Independent Living Movement Ireland, I welcome Ms Selina Bonnie and Dr. Áine Sperrin, who 
are both online with us.

Before we begin I will read a note on privilege and some housekeeping matters.  Witnesses 
are reminded of the long-standing parliamentary practice that they should not criticise or make 
charges against any person or entity by name or in such a way as to make him, her or it iden-
tifiable, or otherwise engage in speech that may be regarded as damaging to the good name of 
the person or entity.  Therefore, if their statements are potentially defamatory in relation to an 
identifiable person or entity, they will be directed to discontinue their remarks.  It is impera-
tive they comply with any such direction.  For witnesses attending remotely from outside the 
Leinster House campus, there are some limitations to parliamentary privilege and, as such, they 
may not benefit from the same level of immunity from legal proceedings as a witness who is 
physically present does.

Members are reminded of the long-standing parliamentary practice to the effect that they 
should not comment on, criticise or make charges against a person outside the Houses or an 
official either by name or in such a way as to make him or her identifiable.  I remind members 
of the constitutional requirement that they must be physically present within the confines of 
the Leinster House complex to participate in public meetings.  I will not permit a member to 
participate where he or she is not adhering to this constitutional requirement.  Therefore, any 
member who attempts to participate from outside the precincts of Leinster House will be asked 
to leave the meeting.  In this regard, I ask any member participating via MS Teams to confirm, 
prior to making his or her contribution, that he or she is on the grounds of the Leinster House 
campus.  I remind everyone that masks should continue to be worn throughout the meeting by 
all present and should only be removed while speaking.

I call Ms Duffy to make her opening statement.

Ms Fiona Duffy: I thank the committee for affording me the opportunity to appear here to-
day.  My interest in the area of assisted human reproduction dates back the 1990s.  It was not for 
at least another ten years before it began to form part of my work as a solicitor.  Over the years 
I have worked with individuals and couples dealing with fertility issues, including surrogacy.  
I realised at a very early stage that not only is this area complex from a medical perspective, 
but that it is also extremely complex from a legal perspective.  It is constantly evolving and 
developing.

I have been asked to address the committee on the particular issues faced by same-sex 
couples, both male and female, entering international surrogacy arrangements and achieving 
parental recognition in Ireland.  As a preliminary, I believe it might be useful to address how 
parental recognition is currently obtained for parents who have had a child through surrogacy.

The first point to note is that irrespective of where the child is born, whether in Ireland or 
abroad, the child’s position vis-à-vis his or her parents is exactly the same under Irish law.  That 
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said, there is an advantage to be had in going abroad, as in most countries where surrogacy is 
possible the intending parents are named on the birth certificate at birth or pursuant to a post-
birth court order.  In Ireland, however, the surrogate mother is named on the birth certificate, 
and this cannot be changed.

The position of same sex male parents through surrogacy is not very dissimilar to that of op-
posite sex parents, apart from the fact that some countries will not provide surrogacy services to 
a same-sex male couple.  Under Irish law they are treated the same.  Only the genetic male par-
ent can have his relationship with the child recognised under Irish law.  The non-genetic male, 
or second parent, is in exactly the same position as the female in an opposite sex relationship: 
in all cases the birth mother is the parent of the child.

With regard to the court process, the first step is for an application to the court to have the 
genetic male parent declared to be a parent.  If this order is granted, then the court is asked to 
appoint that parent as a guardian of the child.  Additional or ancillary orders are also sought to 
include an application that a passport can issue for the child without the consent of the child’s 
birth mother.  It is only after those orders are granted that an application for an Irish passport 
can be made.

The process to establish parentage is exactly the same for a single male parent through 
surrogacy.  While I understand that it would be more unusual for a female couple to require to 
undergo surrogacy, such possibility does require consideration.  Currently it is not possible for 
a same-sex female couple or a single female undergoing surrogacy to establish a legal relation-
ship under Irish law with that child.  This is the position irrespective of whether or not she is 
genetically related to the child.  Happily, the assisted human reproduction Bill seeks to rectify 
this position for domestic surrogacy arrangements.

The assisted human reproduction Bill proposes to legislate only for domestic surrogacy 
where all parties are habitually resident in this jurisdiction.  The committee should bear in mind 
that there are many Irish citizens in same-sex relationships living abroad who have had or will 
have children through surrogacy or through donor conception where they live.  Even if the 
entire procedure is carried out in accordance with the law of that place it may not be possible 
for the non-genetic parents to have their parent-child relationship recognised under Irish law.  
This can have the knock-on effect of denying Irish citizenship to these children.  Last week, a 
representative from the Department of Justice referenced to the committee a case that has been 
leapfrogged to the Supreme Court in which this very issue is before the court for determination.

It is most unfortunate that the Bill as drafted contains no provision for the retrospective es-
tablishment of parentage in the case of a child born through a pre-commencement surrogacy ar-
rangement.  The committee has been addressed by many parents through surrogacy, both male 
and female, who have no recognised legal relationship with their child born through surrogacy.  
The Children and Family Relationships Act contains a template for obtaining a retrospective 
declaration of parentage in the case of a donor-conceived child.  A not dissimilar process could 
be established for surrogacy cases.

It is worth giving some thought to the importance of a genetic link in a surrogacy arrange-
ment.  Currently an opposite-sex married couple can go abroad for IVF treatment using donor 
gametes.  A child conceived through such procedure and born here is the child of that couple, 
even though there is no genetic link.  The Children and Family Relationships Act contains pro-
vision for the establishment of parentage in the case of a child born as a result of embryo do-
nation.  The assisted human reproduction Bill contains provision for the donation of embryos.  
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In addition, adoption is a long-established and recognised method of obtaining parentage of a 
child where there is no genetic link.

Having been involved in this area for so long and watching various reports gather dust, I 
have wondered if I would ever see assisted human reproduction legislation in this country.  I 
have watched the committee and I admire the enthusiasm with which all members have en-
gaged.  I wish them the best of luck in the preparation and finalisation of their report.  It is not 
an enviable task.  Medical science has enabled people who might never have been able to have 
children to become parents.  Assisted human reproduction and surrogacy are here.  The law 
must now catch up.  I would be delighted to address any questions committee members might 
have today.  In addition, I am happy to be at the disposal of the committee should it require any 
further input or assistance.

Ms Claire O’Connell: Good morning, Chairperson and committee members.  My name 
is Claire O’Connell and I appear today on behalf of LGBT Ireland as a board member and as 
someone who has researched this area extensively for my PhD.  I am very grateful for the in-
vitation to return to the committee to discuss specifically the issues faced by same-sex couples 
entering international surrogacy arrangements and achieving parental recognition.  In order to 
avoid repetition I refer to the opening statement I made to the committee a number of weeks 
ago and ask members to consider the recommendations contained therein as well as the recom-
mendations set out in our briefing paper “Pathway to Parenting”.

The starting point to this discussion is to set the scene of how Irish parentage law has pro-
gressed over many decades.  We have had a number of landmark pieces of legislation that deal 
with parentage, guardianship and associated rights and responsibilities in respect of children.  
These include the Guardianship of Infants Act 1964, the Status of Children Act 1987, the Civil 
Partnership and Certain Rights and Obligations of Cohabitants Act 2010 and, most recently, the 
Children and Family Relationships Act 2015, which was bolstered by the Irish vote in favour 
of marriage equality.

Each of these pieces of legislation progressed the rights of children and their care-giving 
parents by being more inclusive than the preceding system.  With each Act, we offered more 
and more protections, not fewer.  We are a progressive country in terms of legislating for the 
rights and freedoms of children and individuals and we are now once more at the precipice 
of another major change in Irish family law.  We are giving ourselves the opportunity to be 
even more inclusive through creating a legislative framework for assisted human reproduction, 
specifically surrogacy.  It is imperative that we avail of the opportunity to ensure the 2022 Bill 
includes a framework for the granting of parental orders in both the international and retrospec-
tive contexts.

Since 1964, the mother in Irish law has been the primary rights holder outside of marriage.  
The addition of marriage offered special protection, even to non-genetic fathers, as a result 
of the presumption of paternity.  However, it was primarily and ultimately the biological link 
that bestowed the status of parent on caregivers in respect of their children.  These principles 
operated until the Children and Family Relationships Act 2015 which, for the first time in Irish 
law, bestowed parentage knowingly on a non-genetically linked parent.  This Act applied to all 
persons engaging in donor-assisted human reproduction.  However, it was especially useful to 
those who could not benefit from the presumption of paternity.  This meant primarily same-sex 
female partners.  Either retrospectively or prospectively such partners would have to comply 
with a specific list of criteria which is, arguably, quite restrictive in nature in order to access 
parentage.  However, while female couples grappled with a restrictive system, male couples 
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remained without any pathway to parentage in assisted human reproduction.

The 2015 Act also did nothing to remedy the presumption of paternity, which continues to 
apply in the area of assisted human reproduction despite the gestational or genetic parent being 
in a loving and committed relationship with the other intending parent.  To be clear, where the 
presumptions of paternity continue to apply the exclusions under the 2015 Act, which were set 
out in detail in my previous statement, disproportionately impact on same sex couples.  This is 
because birth registration in Ireland, which in itself results in a presumption of paternity, is not 
based on DNA tests but rather on the consent of the mother and her marital connection to the 
presumed father.  Yet there is no mechanism for a mother to consent to have her female spouse 
and intending parent registered as the child’s second parent under the 2015 Act.  Therefore, the 
work of the Oireachtas would usefully include amendments to the 2015 Act to allow the inclu-
sion of non-clinical donor assisted human reproduction, retrospective declarations of parent-
age where a known donor was used, and donor assisted human reproduction where the child 
is conceived or born in another jurisdiction.  This would be to ensure that no child is treated 
differently based on the sexual orientation of their parents and the method of their conception.

When considering a framework for surrogacy domestically and internationally, it is impor-
tant to consider the groups who will be excluded in its absence.  The committee has heard the 
stories of individuals who have experienced heart-breaking infertility, experienced multiple 
miscarriages, had to suffer through unthinkable illnesses, have been aged out of adoption or 
have been excluded from adoption due to their disability.  This is the first group to be excluded.  
The second group is the LGBTQI+ community, particularly gay men in the context of surro-
gacy.  They are individuals who, like every other person in this country, benefit from a consti-
tutionally-recognised right to procreate under Article 40.  They also benefit from Article 8 of 
the European Convention on Human Rights, which protects the right to respect for private and 
family life, and Article 14, which protects individuals from discrimination.  These rights are not 
absolute.  However, their existence requires that any interference or restriction be justified by 
the State in serving a legitimate aim in a proportional manner.  Such aims have been suggested 
as the vindication of the child’s right to identity and the prevention of exploitation of women.  
I respectfully suggest that both of these concerns can be comprehensively dealt with in legisla-
tion.  I have made specific proposals, on a section-by-section basis, setting out exactly how this 
can be done.  I am grateful to LGBT Ireland for having endorsed these proposals.

These proposals set out a process for vindicating the child’s right to identity both retrospec-
tively and prospectively.  The 2015 Act and the current proposals in the 2022 Bill do not include 
any protection for the child’s right to identity born through assisted human reproduction prior 
to the commencement of each.  These proposals also set out a court application process for 
retrospective parental orders with regard to retrospective domestic and international surrogacy 
agreements.  They also set out a preliminary pre-conception approval process by the assisted 
human reproduction regulatory authority and a subsequent court approval process for prospec-
tive international surrogacy agreements.  These proposals have a number of principles which 
should be applied in each set of proceedings and these focus on the rights of the child, the sur-
rogate and the intending parents.  It presumes autonomy yet requires informed consent, as well 
as setting out safeguards to ensure it achieves a balance of rights on a case-by-case basis.

In conclusion, a lack of regulation will not stop couples from travelling to other jurisdictions 
and engaging in surrogacy agreements.  However, it will result in less guidance in terms of safe 
and best practice for intending parents, it will leave a surrogate with responsibilities she does 
not want and it will result in the child having no legal relationship to the person who assumes 



6

JIS

the parental role in their life for all intents and purposes.  There are a number of workarounds 
for intending parents but nothing as yet that comprehensively offers that child the legal certainty 
and lifelong security of family that they deserve.  Moreover, there is no insurmountable cause 
for why that should be the case.

I am obliged to the committee for the invitation and would be glad to answer any questions 
members may have.

Chairman: Thank you.  I call Ms Bonnie and Dr. Sperrin, who are sharing time.

Ms Selina Bonnie: I am grateful for the opportunity today, European independent living 
day, to return to speak to the committee on behalf of Independent Living Movement Ireland, 
ILMI, whose aim is to support disabled persons to achieve independent living, choice and 
control over our lives and full participation in society as equal citizens.  I am joined by my 
colleague, Dr. Áine Sperrin, to outline why assisted human reproduction and international sur-
rogacy are relevant to the lives and dreams of disabled persons.  Before I hand over to my 
colleague, who will detail vital learning from the Re(al) Productive Justice project, I want to 
briefly reiterate a few of key facts outlined at a previous committee session.

My statement is based on my experience as a disabled person, mother and reproductive 
justice activist.  I am vice chair of Independent Living Movement Ireland, a member of the As-
sisted Human Reproduction, AHR, Coalition and a regional ambassador for the NUIG Centre 
for Disability Law and Policy’s Re(al) Productive Justice project.  I am also a survivor - and I 
do not use that word lightly - of the assisted human reproduction system in Ireland.

ILMI is a member of the AHR Coalition because our members and the wider disabled per-
sons movement have an important contribution to make to the development of this essential 
legislation.  We believe that joining with like-minded reproductive justice groups and working 
in an intersectional way will be the most effective way to achieve rights-based AHR legislation 
and services in Ireland.

We are here today in a very public setting to implore the committee to consider the most 
private of rights which go to the very core of human existence and which have been largely 
denied to disabled people thus far.  Historically, disabled persons have been considered passive 
dependent recipients of care, eternal children, vulnerable people to be fixed or hidden away in 
the family home or involuntarily incarcerated in various facilities and institutions.  We were 
considered asexual or our sexual desires were considered problems to be managed.  Disabled 
women in particular have been considered most vulnerable.  These varied and widespread mis-
conceptions have had a detrimental impact on disabled persons’ access to reproductive justice 
and fulfilment.  It is important to acknowledge the historical treatment of disabled persons to 
understand why it is essential to hear the voice and experiences of disabled persons in change-
making spaces such as this committee.

The purpose of ILMI’s statement today is: to put on record the voice of disabled persons 
who have lived experience of infertility and the need for inclusive access to AHR and surrogacy, 
both important components of reproductive justice; to stress the importance of the committee’s 
deliberations and recommendations being underpinned by an understanding of intersectional-
ity; and to remind committee members of Ireland’s responsibilities under Article 23 of the UN 
Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities, which is concerned with respect for 
home and the family, including the right of disabled persons to found a family.  Intersectionality 
is a framework for understanding how social identities overlap with one another.  What makes 
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disability unique is that anyone, regardless of age, ethnicity, sexual orientation, gender identity 
or socioeconomic status, can become a disabled person at any stage in their life.

My personal journey to motherhood took 15 years and involved two miscarriages, one pre-
term daughter, Ashika Noor, who lived for one hour, one failed IVF treatment and finally, in 
2007, the birth of our precious daughter, Saira Noor.  My journey also included exclusion from 
intercountry adoption due to my being considered incapable of being a mother due to being 
a disabled woman.  My experiences are not unique but they are very private.  However, I am 
sharing our story - mine and that of my non-disabled husband - with the committee members 
because I hope that, through their actions, other disabled persons and disabled intending parents 
will not experience as much heartache, exclusion and prejudice in the future.  Ableist attitudes 
exist across assisted human reproduction, maternity and parenting services, and the research 
findings that my colleague will outline this morning bear this fact out.

Dr. Áine Sperrin: I am speaking as a member of the Re(al) Productive Justice project at 
NUI Galway, which has gathered qualitative data from disabled people and legal, medical and 
social work professionals about disabled people’s experiences of fertility, contraception, preg-
nancy, birth, abortion and parenting.  We have also analysed the legal and policy framework 
governing reproductive justice in Ireland but as Ireland is only developing this area in regard 
to assisted human reproduction, we can only anticipate potential issues from the perspective of 
disabled intending parents.  Like Ms Bonnie, I want to highlight to that ableist discrimination is 
pervasive across all aspects of a journey to parenthood and that these issues should be addressed 
in regard to international surrogacy and the wider AHR Bill as we think they intersect.

What we consider very telling is that across 80 interviews in the last two years, we had no 
lived experience of surrogacy relayed to us and only minor references to it were made by pro-
fessionals.  We do not accept that this absence of evidence means that surrogacy is not affecting 
disabled people, but rather that this is evidence of the absence of surrogacy as an option towards 
parenthood on an equal basis with non-disabled people.  Where assisted human reproduction 
services have been referred to in our research, a lack of accessible information, excessive cost 
and the need to travel abroad have created additional and insurmountable barriers for disabled 
people.

We know there are huge gaps in accessible information around reproductive services for 
disabled people who have long been presumed not to need it.  Under section 12 of the proposed 
Bill, it is imperative that the AHR information document is available in multiple formats to 
ensure everyone can access the information equally and as barrier-free as possible.  Any frame-
work that is established to regulate international surrogacy must be clearly explained across 
these formats.

We are acutely aware that there is a cycle of reproductive services being inaccessible to dis-
abled people, disabled people, therefore, not seeking those services and services then assuming 
there is no demand for accessible measures or reasonable accommodations to be put in place.  
We have first-hand accounts of this occurring within assisted reproduction services.

We want to highlight that the risk both to the pregnant person and the resulting child should 
be interpreted fairly under the proposed section 15 and that disability is not automatically con-
sidered a risk.  We are very concerned that being a disabled parent has been designated as a risk 
to children within Tusla’s child protection policies.  The proposed section 16 assessments seem 
to us to be preconception parental capacity assessments.  These assessments are inherently 
discriminatory, as told to us by parents who have endured them and professionals who have 
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conducted them.  The assessments do not recognise the true parenting potential where appropri-
ate supports are put in place.  We know that disabled parents are being held to a much higher 
standard than non-disabled parents and we are very concerned that this would be replicated 
when accessing surrogacy.

The project has heard descriptions of social workers sharing information about disabled 
people and unnecessarily prejudicing the reproductive services which they receive.  This ties in 
with the proposed section 37, where information can be exchanged between an AHR provider 
and a medical practitioner without the consent of the individual.  We have been told about 
disabled people being required to have another person present during consultations relating to 
sexual and reproductive health.  This violates the individual’s right to privacy and is particularly 
worrying if the medical practitioners were to disclose private surrogacy-related information in 
front of inappropriate attendees, such as a family member or a disability support worker.  All of 
these issues, which disabled intending parents might uniquely face, will potentially impact on 
the real accessibility of surrogacy to disabled people.

I thank the committee for the opportunity to highlight these issues that the project has come 
across.

Ms Selina Bonnie: In conclusion, we appreciate that international surrogacy is, in turn, a 
part of broader reproductive justice for disabled and non-disabled people alike.  We have dis-
cussed how prominent discrimination is in other areas of reproductive journeys and sought to 
highlight them today to avoid such ableism being embedded in the regulation of international 
surrogacy.

Surrogacy is sometimes what disabled people need in order to become parents.  The entire 
justice and social work systems relating to disabled parents requires a significant overhaul to 
ensure that the systems are underpinned by clear equality criteria.  Amending this Bill to ensure 
that disabled people can get on the path to parenthood through surrogacy is a very basic starting 
point.

On behalf of the Independent Living Movement Ireland, my colleague, Dr. Sperrin, and I 
thank the committee for providing the space for the voices and lived experience of disabled 
persons to be heard.  We are happy to discuss the issues raised in greater detail.

Chairman: I thank both of the witnesses for their contributions.  We, as a committee, recog-
nise the impact that this puts on private lives and I mean outlining their stories to us for which 
we are very grateful as it will help us with our deliberations.  As per usual, members have seven 
minutes for both questions and answers but there will be some flexibility with that.

Senator  Mary Seery Kearney: I thank the witnesses for their contributions.  By way of 
introduction,  the committee gets a breakdown of each person’s curriculum vitae courtesy of 
the secretariat who are fantastic in the support that they give to us.  I note Ms Duffy has a role 
in the Merrion Fertility Clinic and the ethics committee in the hospital, in addition to which she 
is a lawyer.

One of the features that arose last week was the possibility of clinics abroad getting, not an 
accreditation, but a pathway to have a list of almost approved clinics.  I am aware that the word 
“approved” is heavily laden.  When Professor Mary Wingfield was in she talked about the fact 
that when they engage with clinics abroad or send embryos to clinics abroad they can tell very 
quickly whether a clinic is good and has good standards because they know by the documenta-
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tion and the questions that are asked for.  Has Ms Duffy anything to contribute in that regard as 
that would be helpful as a methodology?

Presumably, if Ms Duffy is a lawyer for the surrogacy process in Ireland then it is quite 
likely when there is relationship breakdown that people come back to her although they would 
have to arm wrestle to decide which of them would get her.  In relationship breakdown, because 
of the fact that only one parent is recognised in Irish law and the second parent is not recognised 
at this moment in time, there is an appalling power imbalance and I know of cases where this 
has occurred.  We need to bring this matter into the conversation.  Ms Duffy can think about my 
questions for a minute.

My next question is for Ms O’Connell.  We have protocols for genetic link.  I know, par-
ticularly over the last few months, clinics have biological embryological protocols yet when a 
baby is born via surrogacy the presumption of paternity goes with the husband of the surrogate 
even though well established protocols already exist.  On one hand, in that country the intended 
parents may be on the birth certificate so they have all the rights that flow from that when they 
are in that jurisdiction.  The moment they step out of that jurisdiction and they are home in Ire-
land those rights and presumptions are removed immediately and it is back to the surrogate and 
her husband and, in particular, her husband must be removed from the picture via affidavits and 
genetic testing.  It is important that we do something about this matter.  If we were to undermine 
the presumption of paternity it would have an impact on children who are born without assisted 
human reproduction.  Has LGBT Ireland given any thought to this matter?  I would appreciate 
if we could start this conversation as well.

My next question is for the ILMI.  We need to repeat the sentence that for people with dis-
abilities there is almost a presumption, and it is in the Tusla guidelines, that they are a risk to 
children.  We must highlight how appalling that is.  It is ironic that we are in a committee that 
seeks to resolve discrimination and bring equality for children, and welcome the fact that we are 
all equals together.  I believe that we are equals in disadvantage and in dealing with discrimina-
tion and ableist privilege, which is small by comparison with the lived experience, particularly 
that described by Ms Bonnie.  The idea of a parental capacity assessment is equally abhorrent 
in my view.  We must take the opportunity to amplify how abhorrent that is.  This matter is not 
strictly in the terms of reference for this committee but we must ensure that all reproductive 
services are available to people with disabilities.  Also, the costs are so prohibitive so it is im-
portant that the committee recommends that funding is provided for IVF.  Some of these matters 
can go towards a second round. 

Ms Fiona Duffy: The Senator has asked two very interesting and challenging questions.  
First, in terms of accreditation for clinics, it is very difficult.  Clinics here are licensed by the 
Health Products Regulatory Authority, HPRA.  I cannot speak with any level of authority but I 
presume that in other countries there would be a similar licensing process and that might be the 
way to go.  I mean rather than look at a specific clinic one could look at the licensing process, 
maybe only use a licensed clinic and keep up to date with what is happening in those clinics.  
That is the only thing that I can think of from that perspective.

Senator  Mary Seery Kearney: Does Ms Duffy suggest one looks for a licensing authority 
in a country and seek a list of included clinics?

Ms Fiona Duffy: Yes.

Senator  Mary Seery Kearney: So Ireland is not standing over it because we cannot but at 
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least we could make recommendations.  I am thinking about the guidelines that we could put 
together.

Ms Fiona Duffy: Maybe it would be appropriate to go to a clinic-----

Senator  Mary Seery Kearney: Yes.

Ms Fiona Duffy: -----or people could be encouraged.  I do not know how one could mandate 
this to indicate that it would be a licensed clinic.  The HPRA website has a list of the licensed 
clinics that it has approved and there is a list of what they can do.  That might be a starting point.

Senator  Mary Seery Kearney: Yes.

Ms Fiona Duffy: There is no international regulatory body.  As I understand it, there is 
the European Society of Human Reproduction and Embryology, ESHRE.  Different fertility 
clinics around Europe are affiliated to ESHRE but it is not a regulatory body although it could 
be of assistance.

The Senator asked about the surrogacy process in terms of the difficulties that might arise 
when a relationship breaks down.  Interestingly, over the years when people came to me I would 
say to them that we needed to get things sorted out because everything is fine so long as every-
thing is rosy in the garden but if there is a break-up in the marriage or relationship then that is 
where issues start to appear.  A psychiatrist involved in a case I was dealing with once described 
surrogacy as being the happy side of family law and that is true because it is making families.  
It is wonderful to be a lawyer involved in that and it has brought such pleasure to what I do.  
The other side of it is not the happy side.  I do not do that end of it but the Senator said she is 
aware of situations and I have been approached by people and I do not deal with it because it is 
sad.  Any marriage or relationship break-up is incredibly sad but the Senator is correct in what 
she said.  In the cases that have come to my attention there is a huge control issue, which I have 
only come across in heterosexual couples where the male is the father recognised in Irish law.  
In some cases the female may have been biologically related to the child and in other cases she 
may not have been.  In some of those cases he has exercised control, asserted that the child is 
his, that the female is not the parent and stated that he can do what he wants.  The control end 
of it is quite frightening, particularly if there is no guardianship for the second parent.  It is a 
major concern.

Senator  Mary Seery Kearney: The guardianship is reliant on the consent of that parent.

Ms Fiona Duffy: Yes.  He has to consent.  If he does not consent to it he has to set out why 
he does not do so.  I have often thought that if it were a matter that were to appear before the 
Irish courts, I am sure the courts would look at the involvement which the second parent has had 
in the upbringing of the children or child.  I would find it difficult to imagine that an Irish court 
might not give the second parent rights in relation to the child, whether they are custody rights 
or whatever, even though he or she is not a parent.

Senator  Mary Seery Kearney: Who is prepared to take that risk and be that guinea pig?

Ms Fiona Duffy: That is true.  That is not me speaking as a family lawyer.

Senator  Mary Seery Kearney: I concur.  I am happy to wait until the second round for my 
other questions.

Chairman: We will let Ms O’Connell in and then Dr. Sperrin and Ms Bonnie can come in 
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during the second round.  We have a bit of time this morning so we will work it that way.

Ms Claire O’Connell: I thank the Senator for the questions.  I might start by explaining 
to everyone that the presumption of paternity is based on two things.  First is registration on 
the birth certificate and second is marriage.  It is dealt with at the moment by section 46 of the 
Status of Children Act 1987.  So interestingly, in the Health (Assisted Human Reproduction) 
Bill 2022 we have a section that excludes it from consideration.  There is a section in the 2022 
bill that states that section 46 of the 1987 Act does not apply to parental orders in the context 
of domestic surrogacy.  The surrogate’s husband domestically is not presumed, therefore, to be 
the father and we do not need to dispense with his consent.  When I first read that I thought it 
was great that a long-established principle can be changed just because we choose to do so and 
because we create a new framework.

The Senator asked if I am concerned about the effect it might then have on contacts outside 
of surrogacy or assisted human reproduction, AHR.  There is a simple answer to that; when we 
make legislation like the Children and Family Relationships Act 2015 and when we hopefully 
pass the Health (Assisted Human Reproduction) Bill 2022, we are setting out completely new 
contexts.  We are not applying it to every person who comes through the parentage pathway.  
We are applying it to the process of parentage where there is no genetic link or where there is 
no gestational link.  It is quite simple and has been done already in the proposals.  It is simple 
to disapply that from those contexts-----

Senator  Mary Seery Kearney: In a limited and discrete group.

Ms Claire O’Connell: Exactly.  It is a consideration for us.  The last thing I will say is that 
the presumption of paternity can be rebutted.  It is a rebuttable presumption on the basis of a ge-
netic link.  I would like it to be clearly set out that it does not apply in the context of surrogacy.  
I would also say that I am not of the opinion that a genetic link should be required in surrogacy 
for many reasons.  First, we already allow double donation in donor-assisted human reproduc-
tion.  We have already increased our protections of the social role and minimised the biological 
role in these specified contexts.  For that reason, if there was no genetic link in the process, the 
presumption could not be rebutted and there would have to be a specified provision saying that 
the presumption of paternity does not apply to these contexts.  I hope that makes sense.

Senator  Mary Seery Kearney: It does.

Chairman: We will come back to Ms Bonnie and Dr. Sperrin during the second round.  I 
will move to Senator Keogan.

Senator  Sharon Keogan: I thank the witnesses for coming in again.  Ms Duffy is from the 
legal side of this.  Can she give me a step-by-step breakdown of the process?  When somebody 
comes to her, what happens?  How many people has she assisted over the years?  What are the 
legal costs around the service?

Ms Fiona Duffy: Is this in respect of people going abroad for surrogacy?

Senator  Sharon Keogan: Yes.

Ms Fiona Duffy: If somebody arrives at my door and says that he or she wants advice, the 
first thing I have to do is ascertain whether there will be a biological link between the male 
intending parent, or at least one male intending parent, and the child who will be born.  I have 
to ascertain whether that male is an Irish citizen so that he can get the child back to Ireland.  
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Those are the first two considerations we have.  Generally, when people come to me they have 
done their homework and they have decided where it is they will go.  Their primary interest is 
to find out how they can establish a relationship with the child when they come back to Ireland.  
One of the most difficult things when I am talking to a couple like that, whether it is a same-sex 
couple or not, is that I have to turn to the second intending parent and tell him or her that I am 
sorry because there is nothing I can do for him or her at the moment and I can only give advice 
to the intended biological male parent.  I go through the process for them when they come back 
to Ireland.  I am an Irish lawyer and I can only advise them on the process here.  My advice to 
people going abroad is always that they first need to take independent legal advice where they 
are going.  As we are dealing with same-sex couples in this sitting of the committee, I will con-
centrate on them.  Invariably, most men will go to America or Canada.  There is generally an 
agency they will deal with and then they go through the process of a donor agreement, a carrier 
agreement-----

Senator  Sharon Keogan: Would Ms Duffy have access to those agreements?

Ms Fiona Duffy: My clients often show them to me but I cannot advise them on them 
because they are governed by the law of the country where they are based.  I have seen them 
over the years but it is not part of my function to judge those agreements because they are not 
governed by Irish law.  When I started dealing with this I might not have looked at them to the 
same extent that I currently do.  One of the things I noticed about the agreements is that when 
the baby was born, the agreement came to an end.  I have always said it is important that the 
surrogate would understand that her involvement does not purely end when the baby is born 
but that her involvement is also required for the legal process back in Ireland.  Before she even 
enters into the agreement that should all have been taken care of, she should realise she will be 
a party to the legal proceedings in Ireland with rights and she should know that her co-operation 
or objection will be a part of same.

Senator  Sharon Keogan: For me, surrogacy primarily focuses on the needs of the adults 
rather than the rights and needs of the child and Ms Duffy put it eloquently earlier in mention-
ing what happens when the relationship breaks down.  What is Ms Duffy’s view on step-parent 
adoption as a process or a route to parentage in some international surrogacy cases?  Is that a 
better way?

Ms Fiona Duffy: A better way than what?

Senator  Sharon Keogan: A better way than what we are proposing.  Here, they do not 
want to have the surrogate mother on the birth certificate.  They would prefer not to but I would 
prefer to have the surrogate mother on the certificate.  There is a will here not to have her named 
on the birth certificate.  I am asking if a step-parent adoption would be a route to parentage in 
some international surrogacy cases.

Ms Fiona Duffy: I am sorry, but I must clarify what the Senator is asking-----

Senator  Sharon Keogan: It is provided for already under the Adoption Act.

Ms Fiona Duffy: Yes, and I have no issue with that.  I presume what the Senator is suggest-
ing is that if the birth mother is named on the birth certificate and then there is a step-parent 
adoption, a new birth certificate would issue.  In that way, the first one is always there by way 
of a record-----

Senator  Sharon Keogan: Absolutely, yes.
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Ms Fiona Duffy: Okay.  I just wanted to make sure that I understood what the Senator was 
saying.  I do not have a difficulty with that and it is probably a way of guaranteeing that the 
position of the second parent is more secure-----

Senator  Sharon Keogan: While also protecting the true identity of the mother-----

Ms Fiona Duffy: Yes.  It is interesting that in a lot of states in America it is possible to have 
the birth mother named on the birth certificate and then a subsequent birth certificate issues after 
all of the court processes have been done.  That is a possibility at the moment and it does hap-
pen.  Often male couples are very happy to have the birth mother named on the birth certificate.  
In fact, what often happens is that the birth mother is named, the biological or genetic father is 
named and then there is a step-parent adoption.  That would be very common the USA for same-
sex couples.  I have acted for a lot of US-based people and that is exactly what they would do.  
It is a very satisfactory method.

Senator  Sharon Keogan: Is Ms Duffy familiar with the Spanish High Court case in April 
last, relating to a Mexican surrogate?

Ms Fiona Duffy: No, I am not, I am afraid.  I believe the judgment was in Spanish

Senator  Sharon Keogan: The court declared that adoption was the better option for pro-
tecting the best interests of the child.

Chairman: Deputy Higgins is next.

Deputy  Emer Higgins: Thank you, Chairman.

Chairman: Please confirm that you are on campus.

Deputy  Emer Higgins: I am indeed.  I thank all of our witnesses for sharing their legal 
expertise, research and lived experience with us today.  It is so beneficial to us, as members, 
to hear their perspectives as we navigate through this exceptionally difficult and complex area.

Ms Duffy gave us a really helpful overview in terms of talking us through a typical male-sex 
surrogacy journey and while we understand that everyone’s journey is different and that every 
country has different practices, it is really helpful to get a bird’s eye view on it.  When does Ms 
Duffy or her clients engage with the Irish State authorities?

I have a similar question for Ms O’Connell, who I thank for all of her research in this area 
which was very useful.  I know she is very involved with LGBTI people as a group and some of 
the feedback we have had, particularly from the Departments of Justice and Foreign Affairs, is 
that sometimes they find out that people are going through surrogacy after the fact almost, when 
it is quite late in the day.  If the Departments had that information in their pipeline, they would 
probably be able to better support people going through the process and also to plan better.  Is 
there is an opportunity for Ms O’Connell to help to deliver that message to organisations and 
couples she is working with that might benefit from that?

It is fantastic to have Ms Bonnie here.  She presented previously to the Joint Oireachtas 
Committee on Disability Matters and I know her from my time on South Dublin County Coun-
cil.  She does tremendous work.  It is so important to have heard her perspective today because 
that is what this is all about.  It is about making sure that we are including the people who are 
most impacted by this.  She very articulately outlined that for people with disabilities who are 
perhaps excluded from the adoption process, this may be their only lifeline.  I would love to 
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hear more about why she feels this is such an important option for people in that community.  

I ask Ms Duffy to respond on when she and her clients engage with the State authorities and 
then I would like to hear the thoughts of Ms O’Connell and Ms Bonnie.

Ms Fiona Duffy: I will start by giving a little background.  When I started doing this first, 
there was very little happening in this area and not a lot of knowledge around it, whereas now 
there is a huge amount of information available.  If one looks at what is happening now in terms 
of the proposed legislation and this committee, there is more and more information available.  
Anecdotally, one of the very first cases I ever dealt with involved a man who made an appoint-
ment with me, arrived at my office and told me he had a five-week old baby living in Ukraine 
with his wife.  He thought he could go to Ukraine, have the baby and just come straight back.  
We are going back to the dark ages with that case but that is what happened.  I was sitting in my 
office, looking at this person and thinking “Oh my goodness”.  Anyway, life has changed a lot 
since and people are much more knowledgeable now.  It would be less likely for people to find 
themselves abroad now, wondering how they are going to get their baby home.

When people come into me looking for advice I always tell them, as a preliminary, that they 
need to let the Department know of their plans.  Certainly, if they have a confirmed pregnancy, I 
tell them they should get in touch with the Department of Foreign Affairs.  The Department can-
not and will not do anything at that stage but, as I say to clients, they need to be on the Depart-
ment’s radar so that it knows what is happening, at least.  If they communicate, the Department 
will tell them what the requirements are and so forth.  I tend to have very little communication 
with the Department unless issues arise.  I generally leave it up to clients to communicate di-
rectly with the Department.  Does that answer the Deputy’s question?

Deputy  Emer Higgins: Yes, thank you.

Chairman: Do you have any further questions Deputy?

Deputy  Emer Higgins: I would love to hear from Ms Bonnie on the disability perspec-
tive and from Ms O’Connell on the organisations she is working with and whether she thinks 
it might be possible for that message to get to them to link in with the State authorities as early 
as possible in the process.

Ms Selina Bonnie: It is lovely to see Deputy Higgins again.  It is really important, as with 
anything in life, to get the foundations right from the start.  That is why I feel very strongly that 
it is important that the issue of equality and intersectionality is recognised in this process so that 
it inclusive and providing equality for all.  It is important to recognise, right from the start, that 
people are more than just one thing.  The foundations are important and now is the opportunity 
to get it right from the start.

International surrogacy is an essential part of the path to parenthood.  When people are on a 
journey to becoming a mother or parent and they have fertility difficulties, there are many dif-
ferent steps they can take.  If they take the first step and it does not work, they go to the next step 
and it gets more and more intense as they go along.  Personally, I had one failed IVF attempt 
and even if we could have afforded, both emotionally and financially, to try again it would not 
have been possible for me from a medical and health point of view.  We had one shot and that 
was it.  If our final attempt had not resulted in our miracle girl, then because adoption had been 
excluded for us due to the prejudice of the system, surrogacy would have been our next step.  I 
am half Indian, so I would have loved to have gone in that direction and ended up with a part-
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Indian child.  It would have been a perfect link to my heritage.

It is important to provide people with options because it is not just a want but an ingrained 
need for many people, though not all, to be a mother or parent and share all the nurturing in-
stinct within.  To be told you are disabled and that is not for you is soul-destroying for many 
people.  That is why we have a responsibility to get things right now for the future.  

Deputy  Emer Higgins: Super.  I see Dr. Sperrin nodding.  Does she have anything to add 
to that?

Dr. Áine Sperrin: I go back to Senator Seery Kearney’s issue around section 16 and the 
pre-conception possible parental capacity assessments.  It ties in with what Ms Bonnie says 
about nearly being written off before being properly considered.  The assessments do not look 
at the holistic point of view of what disabled parents can do or properly consider adjustments 
that can be made.  Many of our oral histories in which we have spoken to disabled parents show 
that babies and kids who grow up with such parents adapt to them and things work for those 
families.  It is about giving people an opportunity and being extremely careful, if there are as-
sessments, that disability is not considered as a risk, at it currently is for existing children.  We 
are concerned about how one could even anticipate a risk to a potential future child at pre-con-
ception stages.  How this assessment could be done and ensuring it is not ableist are important.

Deputy  Kathleen Funchion: My questions are mainly for Ms Bonnie and Dr. Sperrin be-
cause, though I know there is an attitude, I was shocked by the stuff about Tusla.  Ms Duffy said 
AHR and surrogacy are here and the law must catch up and Ms O’Connell said a lack of regula-
tion will not stop couples from travelling to other jurisdictions but will result in less guidance 
on safety and best practice for intending parents.  That goes to the crux of everything we are 
trying to achieve.  It is a serious privilege to be elected to the Dáil or Seanad but it comes with 
serious responsibility.  As legislators, we have ignored for far too long the number of families 
who are not recognised.  We need to address that, regardless of what anybody believes.  I do not 
really have specific questions from Ms Duffy or Ms O’Connell but I wanted to acknowledge 
that.  Will Ms Bonnie or Dr. Sperrin come in on Tusla?  If there is time, I might ask a question 
concerning pre- and post-birth to Ms Duffy.

Dr. Áine Sperrin: We find the following when we look our policy and from speaking to dif-
ferent childcare-related professionals.  We come at this from the perspective of disabled parents.  
We understand there are child safety concerns, which is an element of our work, but we see that 
the system in place about parenting capacity assessments means a disabled parent is starting off 
on the wrong foot when he or she comes to child protection issues through national services.  
The assessments do not recognise your abilities and there are assumptions about whether you 
should have become a parent.  As well as the costs related to surrogacy, disabled people have 
to deal with additional costs of day-to-day living and that can impact on raising a child, which 
is not cheap.

There are different attitudes.  There are simple things about when things are held.  There 
have been examples of people being physically unable to attend meetings because there is not a 
lift and the meeting takes place upstairs.  Notice for meetings where parenting will be assessed 
might be short.  There might be an awful lot of materials, particularly in legal proceedings 
involving legalese and dense material.  It is difficult to navigate a way around those systems.  
There is a lack of independent advocacy.  A parent advocate independent of the legal advocate 
would go a long way to supporting parents through childcare proceedings, whether informal or 
at court level.
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Deputy  Kathleen Funchion: I thank Dr. Sperrin.  That is something we need to challenge.  
It does not just fall to this committee, but also to the children’s and disability matters’ commit-
tees.  They have been doing work on it but, as Senator Seery Kearney said, we need to highlight 
that.

Will Ms Duffy speak to the pre-birth versus post-birth parentage situation?  I think a pre-
birth model is the best way forward, where bodily autonomy is with the woman until birth and 
then the intending parents are the parents and take over.  Will Ms Duffy give her thoughts, views 
or experiences?  Would that be a more efficient situation for people travelling abroad?  There 
will be emergency travel with passports.  One has to wait until a baby is born for a passport.

Ms Fiona Duffy: If somebody is going abroad for surrogacy, we have no control over 
whether it is a pre- or post-birth order.  They are stuck with whatever the regime is where they 
go.  We could have control over domestic surrogacy but not in terms of what happens abroad.  
In the US, most orders are pre-birth orders but it is possible to get a post-birth order.  To a large 
extent, because there is no regulation or strict law, you have to keep evolving and deciding on 
different methods of dealing with this.  Recently,  I have leant more towards asking clients to get 
a post-birth order.  In Florida, for example, there is a pre- and post-birth order system.  The pre-
birth order involves the court looking at the agreement entered into and accepting its validity.  
Then it sets out directions for what is to happen as soon as the child is born.  The court accepts 
jurisdiction for dealing with it but gives directions to doctors and institutions as to who they 
might take instructions from in respect of a child as soon as the child is born.  The post-birth 
order is done before the registration and is a final confirmatory order.  It is done shortly after 
birth.  The advantage of the pre-birth order is it gives more certainty to doctors, for example.  
Mary Wingfield referenced this when she was before the committee.

I am dealing with the case of a child due in this jurisdiction through surrogacy.  There is a 
debate between the intending parents and the hospital as to who will give instructions when the 
baby is born.  There is a desperate difficulty for the intending parents because it is their child 
and the surrogate mother wants them to have the child, but the hospital is saying she is the 
mother under law and it will only take instructions from her.  One possibility is having a pre-
birth order system here.  I know I am deviating into Irish law but there is provision in the AHR 
Bill for the appointment of intending parents as guardians.  However, it is not clear.  I would 
like to think it could be done before the baby is born so they would automatically be guardians 
when the child is born and could make those decisions.  That is probably being too optimistic.  
It has to happen, however.  One cannot have that grey area as soon as the baby is born.

As regards the autonomy of the surrogate mother, in the agreements I have seen abroad, the 
surrogate mother has absolute autonomy in respect of everything to do with the pregnancy.  It 
is once the baby is born that the authority or instructions of the intending parents should be ac-
cepted.

Deputy  Kathleen Funchion: Is there a timeframe under the Florida system?  I suspect the 
fear of many people in that regard is that it could drag on.  Ms Duffy stated that it takes place 
within a short time.  Maybe there is not a timeframe for it.

Ms Fiona Duffy: I do not know what is the precise timeframe.  I can check that and revert to 
the Deputy.  In the case with which I was dealing, it was quite shortly after the baby was born.  
It might even have been the day after the baby was born.  It was quite fast.  The birth had to be 
registered and that could not be done without the confirmatory order.
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Senator  Lynn Ruane: Many of my questions have been asked.  I refer to the clarification 
in respect of what we can do in the context of pre- and post-birth internationally.  A witness to 
a previous meeting referred to the wish for the surrogate mother recognised on the long birth 
certificate and the openness and willingness in that regard.  Ms Duffy referred to the benefits 
of the situation in some US states where they have the adoptive piece.  What is the difference 
in terms of a step-parent adoption and then dispensing with one birth certificate and having an-
other?  What is the value of that in comparison with a long birth certificate?

Ms Fiona Duffy: First, many surrogate mothers do not wish to remain on the birth certifi-
cate.  My understanding is that they are happy to go on the birth certificate if it will facilitate 
legal proceedings in the country of the intending parents.  The reality of the situation is that 
under American or Canadian law the birth mother is not the mother of the child even though 
she has given birth to the child.  From the point of view of the birth mother and getting finality 
in that relationship, it is important that even if she does go on the birth certificate temporarily, 
her name could be removed when everything else has been done.

Step-parent adoption may not be a possibility for a person living here because there is a resi-
dency requirement.  The reason for step-parent adoption being the preferred method for people 
who live in the United States is that one could have a situation where both men are named on 
the birth certificate and that is recognised under the law of the state in which they live, but they 
might travel to a neighbouring state that does not recognise same-sex parents as being parents.  
Step-parent adoption gives much more security to the second parent because when he goes into 
the neighbouring state, his adoption order will be recognised even if the birth certificate is not.  
That, therefore, removes any concerns in respect of his position as a parent.  Does that make 
sense?

Senator  Lynn Ruane: It does.  I recall the witness speaking about a willingness and stat-
ing that if the surrogate mother wished to remain on a birth certificate, the long birth certificate 
would be the place for that.  Is there a situation where that is required?  It is as valuable as what 
happens in America in the context of a child looking for identification of his or her surrogate 
mother at a later stage.  Ms O’Connell may wish to comment on that.

Ms Claire O’Connell: For clarification, under the 2022 Bill, as I understand it, the process 
is that the surrogate will be on the birth certificate.  The intending parents will subsequently 
get an entry on the register of parental orders which, for all intents and purposes, would be 
useful in the State as a birth certificate or what have you.  The issue for a long time has been 
the exclusionary nature of a birth certificate.  The birth certificate only recognises people who 
are parents - the mother and father or mother and second parent or what have you.  I hope I am 
not speaking out of turn for the rest of the coalition but the idea is that although there would be 
no issue in respect of having the surrogate registered as the surrogate or surrogate mother or 
whatever it may be, the parents are the intending parents.  It is not to exclude her or minimise 
her contribution in any way; it is just to create a bit of separation.  I refer to the research carried 
out by Dr. Horsey.

As regards the remarks of Ms Duffy, I do not think that in all or most circumstances the sur-
rogate wants to be registered as a mother on a birth certificate.

Chairman: I move now to Senator McGreehan.  I ask her to confirm that she is on the Lein-
ster House campus.  Your microphone is muted, Senator.

Senator  Erin McGreehan: My apologies.  I could not unmute the microphone for some 
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reason.  It has been a worthwhile conversation.  Many of my questions have been answered.  I 
was popping in and out of the meeting, so my apologies if my question for Ms O’Connell and 
Ms Duffy has been answered.  How can we ensure that international surrogacy is done in the 
best way?  Obviously, we have our hands tied jurisdictionally and only have a remit in respect 
of this island, but how can we ensure in law here that the best, safest and fairest surrogacy pro-
cedures are carried out in third countries?

I thank Ms Bonnie for her contribution.  I heard her contributions at the Joint Committee 
on Disability Matters.  Her remarks in respect of the ableist attitude to the structures in society 
stuck with me.  On a tangent to that, how best can we ensure through law that is not the way it 
is?  How do we circumvent that?  If there were checks on whether one could be a parent, who 
would pass?  It is the most difficult job in the world.  The so-called fittest and finest struggle at 
that job.  How best do we counter the attitude that because a person has a disability he or she is 
not able to be a parent?  We know it is not true.

Ms Selina Bonnie: The most important way of doing it is to ensure there are ethical and 
equality criteria underpinning it.  There is a responsibility on the regulatory authority that is 
established to ensure the process is built on ethics and equality criteria and that there is not this 
immediate presumption of inability just because of a person’s life circumstances.  It comes back 
to equality criteria and ethics and recognising there is an unconscious bias - with some people 
it is a conscious bias - against people who may not be perceived to be the norm.  We need to 
mitigate against that.  As regards judging the future welfare of the child, as the Senator stated, 
none of us can tell the future.  When I tried to access IVF for the first time, the doctor wanted 
a guarantee that I would not have a disabled child.  Who can give such a guarantee?  That was 
a very clear, conscious bias he had against the idea of a disabled woman becoming a mother.  
We need to speak to these biases, acknowledge they exist and then use our ethical and equality 
criteria and legislation to ensure people who make the decisions will be governed by an ethical 
framework.

Dr. Áine Sperrin: I might add that under section 16, if somebody has been refused access to 
an AHR service based on this potential parental capacity assessment, there is no mechanism to 
challenge that.  If that section is to be included, there will need to be a mechanism for appealing 
that and for reasons to be given as to why it has been denied, whereby it will have to be clearly 
shown that it has not been on the basis of disability.

Chairman: When people who are interested in surrogacy come to Ms Duffy, does she rec-
ommend specific jurisdictions, and if so, on what basis does she do that?  Does she consider 
issues such as cost, the legalese that arises or ethical considerations regarding the circumstances 
in different jurisdictions?  What information does she provide and on what basis does she guide 
intending parents in a given direction?

My next question is for Ms Bonnie and Dr. Sperrin.  It strikes me that surrogacy is not seen 
as part of the lived experience of disabled people because it is not an option and it is just too 
difficult for them to engage in.  Based on our guests’ discussions, would it be something more 
people would be interested in doing if those barriers were removed?  Is it something they would 
be interested in engaging in if the barriers were removed such that it were made more feasible?

Ms Fiona Duffy: As a cautious solicitor, I would not recommend anything to anybody.  
Generally, people come to me having made up their minds about where they think they would 
want to go, but I have had experiences recently where people have come to me intending to go 
to a jurisdiction with which I am not familiar.  I know people who practise in this area world-
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wide, so I will generally communicate with them and see whether anybody has experience with 
the area or country in question.  Depending on the feedback I get, I will decide whether to go 
forward with the client.  In one recent case, I got very negative feedback on a certain country, 
so I passed that on to the client, who said they would go somewhere else instead.

If it is a jurisdiction I have not previously worked with, I will let the clients know that.  Hav-
ing satisfied myself that it probably has a regime, I will generally advise clients they will have 
to get an independent lawyer there who can give us an opinion on the law.  Obviously, if we are 
presenting a case to the court, we have to be satisfied that what has happened there is per the 
law there.  Invariably, therefore, we get an opinion of law and, if necessary, an affidavit of law.

Chairman: It seems very piecemeal for intending parents and very difficult for people to 
find out all the information.  There are many different elements to it, from the Department to 
lawyers here, lawyers overseas and medical issues.

Ms Fiona Duffy: Yes, and the cost is huge, although I do not concern myself with the cost 
because that is a matter for the client.  It is a big issue.  One of the first steps that has to be taken 
is that the client must seek advice on the area in question.  Often, the clinics provide advice.  
One of the requirements of the State when somebody is seeking a declaration of parentage here 
is that the surrogate mother receive independent legal advice, evidence of which has to be pro-
duced in court.  It is probably important that intending parents get legal advice as well because 
often the lawyers in clinics, if the client does not seek a separate lawyer, might have a vested 
interest.  It is essential, therefore, that the intending parents also get that advice, although that 
is an additional cost and layer.

Ms Selina Bonnie: I am sure my colleague will be able to speak to the research in a mo-
ment.  Of course, if people knew they were not going to be excluded and discriminated against, 
they would be more inclined to consider that surrogacy might be an option on their parenting 
journey.  As a disabled person, you get so used to so much within society being inaccessible or 
poorly designed that you can fall into a trap of just presuming something will not be available 
to you.  It is important to query that and ask questions.  When we talk about something so per-
sonal as fertility and parenthood, it can be difficult to find the strength, particularly if one has 
had bad experiences, to ask whether this is for one and whether one can be included.  It will be 
important, when this process has finished and if there is any publicity, promotion or awareness-
raising, that the imagery as well as the language be inclusive and reflect the diversity of society.  
If there is an advertisement or report within which somebody is depicted as perhaps a bit like 
one, whether a wheelchair user, someone with a guide dog or someone using sign language, one 
will know instinctively that one has been considered and that the service may be for one.  There 
are more than just equality and ethical criteria; we have to think about the next step of when the 
information is being shared and ensure it will be inclusive and welcoming as well.

Dr. Áine Sperrin: We had about 40 oral histories of people detailing experiences from a 
disabled person’s perspective.  Only two people referred to surrogacy and that was just to say it 
was not an option for them, whether because of the cost of undertaking it or the legal insecurity 
in regard to who will be the recognised parents, particularly in the case of same-sex couples.  
They can feel purely invisible.  We did as much as we could to gather a wide variety of stories 
related to reproductive justice, but surrogacy was definitely one of the main blind spots we did 
not get to hear, although we think that is reflective of people not being aware of it or consider-
ing it a viable option.

Deputy  Jennifer Murnane O’Connor: I have just come from a meeting of the Joint 
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Committee on Disability Matters and I was speaking on the floor of the Dáil, so I apologise for 
having missed some of the meeting.  I am not sure whether some of my questions have been 
asked.  What happens when a family takes a journey to have a second sibling?  What could be 
the issues with the legislation in that context?

The CFRA has provided a pathway to parenthood for same-sex couples.  Has LGBT Ireland 
come into contact with members who have chosen not to follow this pathway?  If so, what rea-
sons have they had for making that choice?  What are the key lessons in the CFRA that should 
be learned in the context of the proposed AHR Bill?

Ms Claire O’Connell: On the question about siblings, that is an issue I think about a lot.  
In the case of the CFRA, for example, a transitional provision was allowed, whereby every-
body who used a gamete donor would be identifiable but there would be about three years after 
the commencement of certain sections of the legislation in which anonymous gametes could 
be still used.  Much of the reason behind that related to people who already had a child from 
the same gamete donor, who may have been anonymous, and they then faced the challenge of 
deciding whether there should be a sibling relationship between their two children or whether 
they should work within the framework and have to use an identifiable donor.  It is just to be 
conscious of things like that.  It is a choice whether you want to give the discretion to the par-
ents to prefer identity and choose that or a transitional provision where you give parents a bit of 
a chance to maintain those relationships.

The second question was whether I was aware of people who did not follow the CFRA.  I 
am.  In one particular instance, a couple used a known donor even though they knew, with legal 
advice, that they would be left out of the CFRA provisions for a retrospective declaration of par-
entage.  The reason they did that and the reason they are excluded is that they used a known do-
nor.   All the narratives around the CFRA and the disclosure of a child’s identity were becoming 
more prevalent in the conversation and they recognised that.  They thought their child should 
know its genetic origins but purely for that reason they are excluded from getting a declaration 
of parentage.  That is a considerable problem.

Deputy  Jennifer Murnane O’Connor: That is a problem.

Ms Claire O’Connell: It is a real problem.  My opinion on mistakes that have been made 
in the CFRA would include exclusions about known donors, as I just said.  Not being able to 
avail of non-clinical donors in human assisted reproduction is a problem because it requires un-
necessary medical interventions on something that can be a very private and lovely process at 
home.  One technical issue I have is around sections 21 and 22.  These are the sections that deal 
with retrospective declarations of parentage.  They have strict criteria and going forward there 
are strict criteria.  What there is not is a discretionary principle for the court.  I see this a lot with 
surrogacy in the UK and the court cases that arise there.  Sometimes people, through ignorance, 
mistake or something that may not even have been their fault, fall outside of a framework.  
What needs to happen in each court application is that a level of discretion is provided to the 
court to allow it to say have regard to, say, the best interests of the child or even the autonomy 
of the surrogate.  Different principles can be applied in different contexts.  That discretion does 
not exist in the CFRA.  It currently does not exist in the 2022 Bill.  In fact, it is more restric-
tive than in the general scheme of the 2017 Bill in that the latter allowed discretion to dispense 
with a surrogate’s consent in certain circumstances.  That has been removed.  Allowing for that 
discretion is something that is recommended by the UK law commissions.

Chairman: We are coming to the end of the session but I am aware that there were some 
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questions for Ms Bonnie and Dr. Sperrin.

Senator  Mary Seery Kearney: In some respects, the questions may have been answered 
but Ms Bonnie and Dr. Sperrin may wish to respond.  The issue relates to cost and the idea of 
the risk to the child included in the Tusla guidelines and the parental capacity assessments, their 
inappropriateness and the appalling situation that arises.  It was merely to highlight that and 
give the Ms Bonnie and Dr. Sperrin an opportunity to address it.

Ms Selina Bonnie: On the inappropriateness of the parental capacity assessment and what 
is considered within these assessments, we think there are mechanisms in place for child safety 
concerns for existing children.  In that case, why do it at a preconception stage?  That is the 
point we are highlighting.  As others have said, it is difficult to predict a risk.  Disabled people 
are being held to a much higher standard than non-disabled people simply because they have 
more contact with social and health services and State bodies are more present in their lives 
than in the lives of non-disabled parents who can parent freely and are not subject to the same 
scrutiny.

Chairman: Does Ms Bonnie wish to come in on  that?

Ms Selina Bonnie: No, I think my colleague covered it adequately.

Chairman: I will briefly go to Senator Keogan.

Senator  Sharon Keogan: Ms Bonnie may be able to answer this.  The issues I have are 
ethical.  One is the exploitation of women and children.  What happens when parents refuse a 
child due to disability or where children are abandoned because of gender?  This has happened 
in the countries which have surrogacy, whether Thailand, India, Australia, America or the UK.  
Maybe one twin is taken and the other is not.  What is Ms Bonnie’s view on that?

Ms Selina Bonnie: I could not speak to that.  As a parent and a disabled person, I do not see 
disability or impairment as a negative to be avoided or abandoned or thrown away so I could 
not possibly understand how somebody could reject a human being just because of the person’s 
perceived ability, future inabilities or health issues.  We all have our unique abilities.  Given the 
right support and nurturing, we can soar.  We can be anything.  Nobody can predict the future.

Senator  Sharon Keogan: Does Ms Bonnie think it is right that the parent gets the right to 
walk away from the contract?

Ms Selina Bonnie: I do not think any parent in any area of life, regardless of whether it is 
surrogacy or just normal life, has a right to walk away from a child.  As a mother, I cannot pos-
sibly understand such a sentiment.  It is not something I have ever felt.  I do not feel I can really 
give the Senator a useful informed answer.  I am a good mother and I-----

Senator  Sharon Keogan: No, I am not questioning Ms Bonnie’s ability.

Ms Selina Bonnie: I am sorry, but I do not think I can really give the Senator a helpful an-
swer.  Perhaps my colleague has something to add.

Ms Claire O’Connell: The perspective of our project is that of the disabled parents.  The 
issue of disabled children was not the focus of our research.  We are not familiar with any issues 
like that.

Senator  Sharon Keogan: Perhaps Ms Duffy might be able to give me her view about sur-
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rogate parents walking away from a child, as has happened in a number of jurisdictions, where 
the child may not have been of the right gender or may have been disabled.  For instance, there 
was a case in Australia of a child who had Down’s syndrome where the parent walked away 
from the child.  What is Ms Duffy’s view on that?

Ms Fiona Duffy: It is complex.  As I said at the beginning, surrogacy is complex.  By way 
of clarification on the baby Gammy case in Thailand, I believe that was subsequently clarified 
in court in Australia.  My understanding is what happened there was that the mother was ex-
pecting twins and discovered that one of the children had Down’s syndrome.  I believe there 
may have been a debate around an abortion but the mother wanted to keep the child because 
the child was, in her view, a lucky child.  I know the family has been much maligned for having 
abandoned the child but my understanding is that in fact the mother chose to keep the child.  
That is something that should be clarified.

The whole issue around surrogacy is that in most jurisdictions the agreement between the 
parties is not enforceable.  That is where the dilemma is.  If it was enforceable, the parents 
would have to take the child but there is this very fine line between having a woman carry a 
child and then forcing her to hand over the child.  I cannot really give the Senator a definitive 
response on it.  When you look at it, however, and without even dealing with surrogacy but with 
other situations in which people conceived children naturally in a relationship, parents do walk 
away.  Fathers walk away, as do mothers, for different reasons and because things happen.  It is 
not something that is exclusive to surrogacy.  It can happen anywhere in life.

Senator  Sharon Keogan: Can Ms Duffy give specifics about where this has happened?

Chairman: Sorry, we are going to have to move on.

Senator  Sharon Keogan: Fine.  I have never heard of that happen but that is okay.

Chairman: I thank the witnesses for those inputs.  It shows the lack of regulation in this 
area is very problematic for all parties.  Our remit is to make recommendations on where we 
could regulate to avoid circumstances where anyone, whether it is a child, a surrogate or an 
intending parent, is disadvantaged in any way with respect to their rights.  I thank everyone for 
their contributions and for engaging with the committee.  We will suspend for a few moments 
to allow the next witnesses to take their seats.

  Sitting suspended at 11.10 a.m. and resumed at 11.17 a.m.

Chairman: I welcome everybody.  In this session, our second today, we will be consider-
ing the rights and regularising the position of existing children born through international sur-
rogacy, the role of legal advice and arrangements for the verification of documents issued in 
other countries.  On behalf of the committee, I welcome: Ms Maeve Delargy and Ms Ranae von 
Meding from Equality for Children; Ms Gillian Keegan, from the National Infertility Support 
and Information Group; and Ms Cathy Wheatley and Ms Ciara Merrigan, from Irish Families 
Through Surrogacy.

All witnesses are reminded of the long-standing parliamentary practice to the effect that 
they should not criticise or make charges against any person or entity by name or in such a way 
as to make him, her or it identifiable or otherwise engage in speech that might be regarded as 
damaging to the good name of the person or entity.  Therefore, if their statements are potentially 
defamatory in respect of an identifiable person or entity, they will be directed to discontinue 
their remarks.  It is imperative that they comply with any such direction.
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Members are reminded of the long-standing parliamentary practice to the effect that they 
should not comment on, criticise or make charges against a person outside the Houses or an 
official either by name or in such a way as to make him or her identifiable.  I remind members 
of the constitutional requirement that they must be physically present within the confines of the 
Leinster House complex to participate in public meetings.  I cannot permit a member to partici-
pate where he or she is not adhering to this constitutional requirement.  Therefore, any member 
who attempts to participate from outside the precincts of Leinster House will be asked to leave 
the meeting.  I ask any member participating via Microsoft Teams to confirm prior to making 
his or her contribution that he or she is on the grounds of the Leinster House campus.

I remind everyone that masks should continue to be worn throughout the meeting by all 
present and should be removed only when speaking.

I invite Ms von Meding to make her opening statement.

Ms Ranae von Meding: On behalf of Equality for Children, I thank the committee for the 
opportunity to present to it today.  I am the chief executive officer of Equality for Children, a 
not-for-profit volunteer-led organisation that represents hundreds of LGBTQ+ families across 
Ireland.  Equality for Children was formed in 2019 with the intention of fighting for equal treat-
ment for children born to LGBTQ+ families in Ireland through donor-assisted conception and 
surrogacy.  More importantly, I am also a proud same-sex parent to two daughters with my wife 
Audrey.  Ava is five and Arya is three. 

This committee has been established to look at the issue of international surrogacy.  To-
day’s session has been convened to look at, among other things, the retrospective recognition 
of international surrogacy.  The committee has heard from our close friends at Irish Gay Dads 
about how surrogacy can be regulated in an ethical way and how the lack of regulation affects 
same-sex male couples who have children through international surrogacy.  However, interna-
tional surrogacy is not an option for Irish same-sex female couples.  Currently and under the 
proposed legislation, parental rights through international surrogacy are only awarded through 
the biological male parent.  This means that there is no path to parenthood for two women who 
may need to access surrogacy.  As far as we are aware, there are no children born to same-sex 
female couples via international surrogacy who require retrospective recognition. 

Today, we are asking the committee not only to ensure that same-sex male couples can ac-
cess international surrogacy and that children already born and conceived through surrogacy to 
same-sex male couples are included in the legislation, but also to ensure that same-sex female 
couples can access international surrogacy and that all those LGBTQ+ families left out of cur-
rent and proposed legislation do not continue to be left in legal limbo.  We are asking that the 
committee make recommendations to amend the Health (Assisted Human Reproduction) Bill 
2022 and the Children and Family Relationships Act 2015 to include all children born to LG-
BTQ+ parents through international surrogacy and donor-assisted conception. 

I will now hand over to my colleague, Ms Maeve Delargy, a member of Equality for Chil-
dren and a practising solicitor, who will outline the current position of countless LGBTQ+ 
families across Ireland. 

Ms Maeve Delargy: On behalf of Equality for Children, I thank the committee for the op-
portunity to present today.  I am a member of Equality for Children, a solicitor and mother to 
two little girls with my wife.  As an aside, I will thank my wife.  I am here today while she is 
doing the work of looking after our children and our house.  That important job is not as valued 
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as it should be by society or, most of the time, by me.  While I am a mother to two daughters, I 
am only a parent to one.  As Ms von Meding noted, Equality for Children strongly endorses the 
submission from Irish Gay Dads on how to ensure that same-sex male parents are not excluded 
from legislation on domestic and international surrogacy.  Additionally, we are here today to 
highlight to the fact that international surrogacy is and remains entirely unavailable to same-sex 
female couples in Ireland.  This can be addressed in one of two ways in the upcoming legisla-
tion on assisted human reproduction.  The first is by creating a pathway for parental rights to be 
assigned in an international surrogacy situation where there is double-donor conception and the 
second is by allowing an intended female parent who uses their own egg to create their child to 
establish parental rights through DNA evidence.

As today’s session focuses on protecting the rights and regularising the position of existing 
children born through international surrogacy, it would be remiss of us not to point out that 
hundreds of existing children of same-sex female couples across Ireland continue to be ex-
cluded from any legislation.  The children who continue to live in legal limbo are: the children 
of same-sex male or female couples born outside of Ireland through surrogacy or donor-assisted 
human reproduction, children conceived by same-sex couples in a non-clinical setting, children 
conceived by same-sex couples using a known donor prior to May 2020 and the children of 
same-sex female couples conceived outside of Ireland after May 2020.  We urge the committee 
to recommend in its report that these gaps are also addressed in the upcoming Health (Assisted 
Human Reproduction) Bill, should it consider it appropriate to do so.  I thank members.  We 
welcome their questions.

Ms Gillian Keegan: I am here this morning to represent an organisation called the National 
Infertility Support and Information Group, NISIG.  I am a long-time member and volunteer of 
the organisation, having been with for over ten years.  It supports people on every step of their 
journey to have a family.  We welcome the opportunity to come before the committee, which is 
undertaking a very important piece of work in the context of the legislation on assisted human 
reproduction.

For those who are not familiar with NISIG, the organisation was established in 1996 by 
three amazing ladies in Cork: Helen Browne, Martina Horgan and Geraldine Fitzpatrick.  It is 
the only charity in Ireland focusing on infertility.  Our mission is to provide practical supports 
to, and to advocate for, those who experience reproductive challenges and their families.  

We strongly welcome the publication of the Health (Assisted Human Reproduction) Bill 
2022.  Many of the proposals in this Bill have long been called for.  We are concerned that 
international surrogacy is not included in the current AHR legislation but welcome that this 
committee is tasked with agreeing a means by which this can be remedied.  We appreciate that 
the issue members, as national legislators, have been asked to deal with is not straightforward 
but it is incredibly important.  

Over the years, NISIG has been the first point of contact for thousands of people reaching 
out for support and connection, particularly in the early years when there was not much aware-
ness of fertility issues and there were very few people for those people to connect with.  Many 
of those contacting us are really just starting to contemplate the option of surrogacy.  We also 
provide workshops on various issues related to fertility challenges including workshops on 
surrogacy.  After our most recent workshop on surrogacy, we found that a relatively brief psy-
chosocial intervention can significantly increase parents’ feelings of confidence and emotional 
resilience and provide practical tools for engaging in the profoundly important conversations 
with their child and their community about their child’s story.  



5 MAY 2022

25

To give the committee an example of the lived experience of one of our members, I will 
briefly detail Sarah’s experience.  Sarah and her husband spent eight years trying to conceive 
before her boy and girl twins were born in January 2020.  They had exhausted every treatment 
available in Ireland and in the Czech Republic, including Clomid, intrauterine insemination, 
IUI, and eight rounds of IVF.  It took a massive toll on them not just financially, but also physi-
cally and mentally.  They also sadly had a miscarriage during this time.  It was a very difficult 
and stressful decision for Sarah and her husband to make but they eventually arrived at a point 
where surrogacy was their only option.  They feel that, based on current legislation, as soon as 
their twins were born, the Irish State was only concerned with Sarah’s husband, as the father.  
Sarah feels that she is essentially invisible and has practically no rights to her own children.  
She can apply for guardianship but feels that just does not befit her role as a parent.  Once her 
children reach 18 years of age, she will lose all her rights again.  Sarah is their mother.  When 
they need a parent in the middle of the night, when they have a cut on their knee or when they 
are scared, and for all of the other natural milestones that children go through during their lives, 
she is the first person they look for.  Not a day goes by when Sarah does not think about how 
unfair this is, first of all, to the children but also to herself and her husband.  Her children are 
not protected because, according to current Irish law, they do not have a mother.  How can we 
accept that in Ireland in 2022?  Given the long and arduous journey these parents have had to 
endure to finally become a mammy and daddy, including not just the emotional investment, but 
also the financial struggle, it is unconscionable that the State would then, as a willing bystander, 
make them endure any more hardship and stress.  

We urge this committee to listen to the lived experience of those who have been through the 
international surrogacy process, whose stories clearly show the need for legislation in this area 
to support them and their families, and to take on board the medical and academic testimony 
that witnesses have provided to it.  This testimony cannot leave anyone with any doubt that 
legislation is desperately needed and overdue for those who have been through this process and 
those who will undertake it in the future.  At the centre of this, the best interests of the child 
must at all times be at the forefront of any legal provisions.  We ask that the committee bear this 
in mind when working through this process and drafting recommendations.  I thank the com-
mittee for the opportunity to speak.  I look forward to answering any questions members may 
have on behalf of NISIG.

Ms Ciara Merrigan: I thank the Chairperson and the committee for inviting us back here 
today.  I am the chairperson of Irish Families Through Surrogacy, a nurse by profession and a 
mammy to three-year-old Clara and Matthew, who were born through international surrogacy.  I 
am here to speak to the committee on behalf of hundreds of families created through surrogacy 
across Ireland.  I will start today by reading a message I received from Siobhan, one of our 
members.  Siobhan is a radiographer from Donegal.  With a diagnosis of severe adenomyosis, 
Asherman’s syndrome and years of infertility, Siobhan and her husband, Paul, turned to surro-
gacy as their last hope to create a family.  Siobhan is now mammy to a four-and-a-half year-old 
girl - the half is very important - and to a baby boy born through surrogacy last November in 
the USA.  She states:

Ciara, our houses should be empty, devoid of noise and mess and chaos and pieces of 
artwork strewn across the floor like our house is today.  I shouldn’t be a parent and yet here I 
am with two of the most precious children.  We are blessed and not a day goes by that I don’t 
pinch myself that I am here in this situation.  It is just amazing what surrogacy is, and what 
it has done for me, my husband and my whole family.  It has been absolutely life changing 
and life saving for me, if I am to be perfectly honest.  I am sure you and others understand 
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this.  I have been to some very, very dark places on my path but thanks to two amazing la-
dies, surrogates Triona and Lakyn, we have been able to succeed and thrive as a family.  My 
husband and I completed every piece of research before taking that leap down this path.  It 
is so important to us to be able to tell our children that we have been their mammy and their 
daddy every step of the way, including seeing off our embryos as they were being shipped 
from the Merrion Clinic to the USA.

  The wish to raise a family is not an expectation.  It is a shared hope for healthy, happy and 
rewarding lives.  We wish for equal pregnancy partners, surrogates and donors who can share 
our hope and the experience of creating a new life: a baby, a child who needs the secure, loving 
and nurturing environment of a family to flourish.  We believe our laws and regulations should 
be designed as an invisible protector and enabler of children’s well-being and their right to fam-
ily and citizenship.

It is absolutely alarming that the proposed legislation does not include retrospective recog-
nition as a means to create a legal parent-child relationship with their mother for those existing 
children born prior to the commencement of the Bill.  Hundreds of children from every county 
across Ireland remain vulnerable in this regard.  Many of these children will soon turn 18 years 
of age, or already have, and will lose the opportunity for a lifelong legal relationship with their 
mothers: the mothers who are their caregivers, who love them, raise them and want to fully 
protect them.  This situation is clearly contrary to the best interests and welfare of Irish children 
and leaves them in a legal limbo.  The importance for our children of creating that legal-parent 
child relationship on their social, emotional and psychological well-being is completely immea-
surable.  Irish Families Through Surrogacy is recommending an expedited route to parenthood 
for the protection of these children.

Irish Families Through Surrogacy’s first piece of advice to any couple going down the road 
of surrogacy is to seek legal advice from a solicitor who has experience in this field.  The solici-
tor in that first consultation will explain to the couple what is involved from start to finish.  This 
can often be a very difficult meeting for the intended parents as it may be the first time they hear 
that the intended mother will not be recognised in Ireland, even if it is the intended mother’s 
own eggs that are used.

Our members are currently experiencing huge variation in the legal process, time taken and 
cost here in Ireland.  As the committee has heard previously, some of our members have had a 
five-year wait to get the father’s parentage through, leaving their children without a legal parent 
in this State for five years.  This variation is dependent on the legal representation employed 
by the couple and also on their address for access to courts.  Essentially, one could say it is a 
postcode lottery.  There is also a variation in the process and in the courts used.  Some solicitors 
and barristers are using the family courts and the Circuit Court and others are using the High 
Court.  We are aware that the Courts Service is changing.  We welcome this change.  We would 
expect that this change would ensure a more streamlined specialist approach.

Intended parents availing of international surrogacy will also employ a legal practitioner 
in the country they choose.  The legal practitioner engaged is independent to the surrogate 
mother’s legal practitioner.  It is the role of this legal practitioner to ensure all contracts and 
affidavits are credible, and that the law, regulations, and best practices of the jurisdiction are 
fully respected.  The international legal practitioner will prepare all documents and ensure they 
are translated, apostilled and retranslated, including birth certificates and documents required 
to exit the country and return to Ireland.  The legal practitioner would also work closely with 
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the Irish embassy staff.

The surrogate mothers is assigned an independent legal practitioner.  Their role is to ensure 
that the surrogate mother is fully informed, gives informed consent to the process and fully 
understands the consequences of the law in their own country and the intended parents’ country 
of origin.  Irish Families Through Surrogacy recommends that all surrogacy contracts should be 
individualised, directly between parents and the surrogate, to ensure the relationship between 
the two parties starts early and is not intermediated.  Having a direct contract with a surrogate 
who has independent legal advice would mitigate the chances of exploitation and ensure the 
best possible scenario for ensuring surrogate welfare.  The legal support employed for the in-
tended parents and the surrogate must be members of and governed by a regulatory authority 
in their own country.

It is our experience that there are robust processes and arrangements in place internation-
ally for the verification of documents issued in the country of birth to ensure all parties are 
protected.  This would include oversight from the legal practitioners, the court system in some 
jurisdictions, Irish embassy processes, and international passport control on exit.

With the introduction of legislation, Irish Families Through Surrogacy would see a role to 
provide advice and guidance on the entire process, and we would work in partnership with the 
assisted human reproduction regulatory authority and the Department of Foreign Affairs to sup-
port intended parents, and children born through the process, safely.

Ms Cathy Wheatley: I thank the committee for the opportunity to speak here today.  I am 
the spokesperson for Irish Families Through Surrogacy.  I am also a mother to three children.  
My first-born, baby Helen, died at birth.  When I lost Helen, I also lost my ability to carry an-
other pregnancy.  Thankfully, through advances in assisted human reproduction, I was able to 
avail of surrogacy and welcome my now two-and-a-half-year old twins Ted and Elsie into the 
world.  Thankfully, they were alive.  The first thing I said when they were born was “How is 
Ivana?”, our surrogate, and then “They are alive”, because that was not my reality.  Today, the 
committee will hear some of my story, but, ultimately, I am here to represent the women up 
and down the country in every community and constituency.  Irish Families Through Surrogacy 
represent families who, through no fault of their own, had to avail of international surrogacy to 
have their children.

I was failed by State services throughout my entire adult life.  I was failed by a delayed 
diagnosis of endometriosis.  I was failed by the maternity services where there were admitted 
failures in my care and the care of my beautiful, stillborn baby girl, Helen.  I was failed when, 
due to medical reasons, I was denied the chance to adopt.  I was failed when I brought my beau-
tiful children home to Ireland.  When we landed in Dublin Airport as a family. I realised that this 
was the moment I lost my maternal rights.  I have been invisible as an Irish woman throughout 
all of these failures.  At the committee’s previous sessions, we heard about invisible mothers.  
The truth is that I am an invisible mother.  As a mother of a stillborn baby I had no child in my 
arms to signify my motherhood in society’s eyes.  When my husband and I finally welcomed 
our twins Ted and Elsie through surrogacy, in the eyes of the law I am a legal stranger to them.  
I do not exist.  If the current  Health (Assisted Human Reproduction) Bill proceeds without the 
inclusion of international surrogacy and retrospective recognition of parentage, being a mother 
through surrogacy means that I will still be invisible.  Hundreds of mothers and I will not be 
recognised.  Today, I come here to appeal to members, on behalf of these mammies, to please 
let us finally be visible.
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I say to the mighty women who carried our children, simply because our bodies could not, 
that Irish Families Through Surrogacy wants you to know that we see you and that you are not 
invisible in our lives or in our children’s lives.  When we blow out the candles on our children’s 
birthday cake we think of you and we celebrate you.  Without you there would be no birthday 
cake and our houses would be empty.  The beautiful pandemonium of family life simply would 
not exist.  This is why your well-being and protection will always be a priority for us.  We come 
here today to be witnesses to our legislators, the people who can make a difference to our fami-
lies and to our children.  However, the truth is we bear witness every day to our children.  We 
have a responsibility to be able to look them in the eye and be confident that their story is one 
that ensures they were created with protection, love, respect and dignity for everybody involved 
with our pregnancy partnerships.  We ensure that we as their parents did everything we could to 
make their story one of which they could be proud of.

Our children have a right to know their origins and their identity.  When we see our reflec-
tion in our children’s eyes, we want them to see a mother who did everything possible to protect 
them, love them and advocate for them.  Now is the time as a country we can stand up and be 
counted, be brave, be forward-thinking and be the ones who are not afraid to tackle the difficult 
advances in society.  This is not just for our families’ sake but for all families and for genera-
tions to come.  Please do not fail us now.

Chairman: I thank Ms Wheatley.  I know how difficult it is to come in and go through these 
stories so I really appreciate everybody coming in to do it today.

Senator  Mary Seery Kearney: How do we follow that?  I follow it by saying this day 
seven years ago my daughter was born and when her surrogate mother recovered I placed her 
in her arms, knelt at her feet and thanked her for the incredible miracle that is my child.  We 
light our candles later today.  She has asked for anonymity in these circumstances but she is not 
anonymous in our house.  She is very vital and important in our house.

There are a few issues that have come up.  I would like Ms Merrigan to share what I know 
is part of her story because it came up in the context of last week’s discussion about clinics 
abroad and protocols here.  She has a very valuable contribution to make on that.  It is not that 
I am ignoring others - I am trying to be mindful of time - but perhaps Ms Delargy could speak 
to step-parent adoption and the question that people might ask of just going down the adoption 
route.  If it were that straightforward, we would all have done it.  Perhaps we could explore what 
that is and the impediments.  NISIG has done an amazing job over many years and I thank its 
members for the advocacy and factual and truthful workshops.

Ms Ciara Merrigan: I thank the Senator for her questions.  We were married in 2011 and, 
unfortunately, we had a number of miscarriages.  Our story on our surrogacy journey started in 
a Dublin acute hospital, when I was diagnosed with endometrial cancer and my gynaecologist 
recommended that I have a total hysterectomy.  I was only 33 at the time, which was pretty 
young for that type of surgery.  At that time, as part of the cancer treatment, my consultant spoke 
to me about surrogacy.  She spoke about the experiences of other previous patients of hers, in-
dicating it was a real option for me and my husband to create a family.

At that point she referred me to the Rotunda IVF clinic, which was known in those days 
as the HARI clinic.  She referred me to the clinic so we could have our embryos created and 
frozen.  We completed two cycles at the Rotunda IVF clinic.  It is important to note that one of 
those cycles was funded by the State as part of my cancer treatment.  That is the normal process 
for young people with gynaecological cancers, including cervical, endometrial, ovarian and 
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those types of cancer.

We created the embryos and, ethically, I did not think we could just leave them there.  They 
were all a possibility of life.  When I got over surgery etc., we started researching the possibility 
of surrogacy.  We looked at both domestic and international options but there was no legislation 
about this in the country.  That did not sit right with me and we looked internationally then.  We 
looked for a country that had a robust framework in place.

Ukraine was the country we chose to pursue our surrogacy journey.  We started to research 
different options and clinics in Ukraine.  It is interesting because one of the clinics in Ukraine 
was owned by the same company that owns the IVF clinic we were dealing with here.  Essen-
tially, they are all owned by the same company and therefore they all had the same standards, 
procedures and book of policies.  Even on a more practical note, they had the same way of 
thawing an embryo in the clinic in Ukraine as they did here in the Rotunda IVF clinic lab.  The 
book of standards was exactly the same.

At that point we looked at transferring or transporting our embryos from Ireland to Ukraine 
and it takes a while to get one’s head around the thought that part of you and your husband is in 
a plane flying to Ukraine.  We met the people in our clinic.  It was explained to us at that point 
that we had to complete an external clinic assessment.  It is a six-page document and I have a 
copy of it with me today.  I pulled it out to have a look over it.  The case is assessed for legiti-
macy to ensure standards and licensing are in place, including a registration with the regulatory 
body in Ukraine.  There were even questions about success rates.  After that, the quality manag-
ers in the labs both in Dublin and Ukraine communicated and an inter-clinic agreement was set 
up.  That was a 23-page document between the two clinics.

The clinic in Dublin then had to apply to the Health Products Regulatory Authority, HPRA, 
for permission or a licence to export our embryos from Ireland to Ukraine.  There is much pa-
perwork in that process and it took approximately three months.  It is quite a long process.  The 
clinic in Ukraine had to do something similar and apply to its regulatory authority, asking for 
a notification of import.  Essentially, there were two regulatory bodies involved to ensure the 
standards, processes and everything else were in place on both sides.

The clinic here was happy with the clinic we had chosen in Ukraine.  Again, it was owned 
by the same company and had the same standards, procedures etc.  The next step was to employ 
a courier or transporter that is licensed, with procedures, protocols and standards in place to 
carry these precious embryos from one country to the other.  Again, the clinic in Dublin had to 
ensure it was happy with the person we chose to do this.  The clinic in Ukraine also had to agree 
it was happy to take the embryos from the transporter and it was happy with the standards and 
procedures etc. that were in place.  At that stage, we decided - pardon the pun - not to put all our 
eggs in one basket so we completed the process twice.  The documents had to be completed on 
both occasions because they were separate transfers.

There are some lessons to be learned already within the system that we can bring to the 
table.  There are regulatory bodies already working together, so to speak.  Even for a couple 
here in Ireland, it was reassuring for us that the clinic in Ireland completed all these processes.  
They had nearly confirmed that everything was right about the clinic in Ukraine as well.  There 
are learnings there from industry that we can acknowledge here at the committee.  Does that 
answer the Senator’s question or does she need any more information?

Senator  Mary Seery Kearney: There are protocols in place that we can build on for other 
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aspects-----

Ms Cathy Wheatley: Yes, from the Health Products Regulatory Authority, HPRA, point of 
view.

Senator  Mary Seery Kearney: -----particularly the Chair’s question of last week which I 
promised her Ms Wheatley would be able to answer.

Ms Cathy Wheatley: Does that answer it?

Chairman: I thank Ms Wheatley.

Ms Maeve Delargy: I thank the Senator for her question on step-parent adoption and the 
appropriateness of that process for surrogacy.  Before we get into whether it is possible or not, 
I would start by saying that it is not really appropriate in these cases.  These intending parents 
are already parents of their child and it would be essentially asking them to adopt their own 
child.  Particularly where there is a genetic link, it does not make sense to go through the adop-
tion process.

Let us look at what is actually involved in getting an adoption order.  It is an invasive pro-
cess, it is time consuming and it results in a declaration of eligibility and suitability, but such 
a declaration would not be given in cases where there is an underlying medical condition for 
one of the parents.  It is often the reason, as we have heard from the stories today, parents have 
to go down the route of surrogacy, in that there is an underlying condition and that declaration 
would not be given.

I would also point out that a step-parent adoption is not an option for people who have used 
assisted reproduction because the adoption authority is not making those orders at present in the 
absence of legislation.  I would also emphasise the fact that in the proposed legislation there is 
a surrogacy register and all the details of the surrogate will be on it, available to the parents and 
available to the child, and that hugely important role, as pointed out today, will be recognised, 
formalised and recorded so that information is available to all parties.

It was stated by another witness that adoption has been used, particularly in cases in the US 
where the couple is potentially moving between states.  Adoption can be a stronger formuli-
sation of the parental rights in that situation where same-sex marriage is allowed in one state 
and not in another, and that might be the reason one would use it there, but in terms of Europe 
there is recent case law from the European Court of Justice in relation to mutual recognition 
of parenthood in same-sex families between the EU countries.  Therefore, it just would not be 
appropriate or required here.

Deputy Jennifer Murnane O’Connor: I thank all the speakers today.  When Ms Delargy 
spoke about her wife with her two beautiful daughters at home, as Ms von Meding did, I was 
thinking that I had two of my grandchildren for the weekend and I was exhausted.  I actually 
said to myself that I was glad to be back to work on Tuesday.  Let me tell the committee mem-
bers, as they will know, it is a full-time job, in itself, and they are only three-and-a-half and ten 
months old.  I can tell members I had my hands full for the weekend.  I also thank Ms Wheatley 
and Ms Merrigan for their stories.  I know Ms Keegan also, who has been marvellous over the 
years, and I compliment her too.

I watched “The Late Late Show” a few weeks ago when Ms Wheatley was on it with her 
surrogate.  Actually, my heart stopped.  I thought it was beautiful to hear the two of them speak-
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ing on “The Late Late Show” about their journey and how Ms Wheatley went to meet her in 
Ukraine despite the war.  Ms Wheatley touched a lot of people but, because I know her and I 
know Ms Merrigan, I just thought, “Oh my God”.  It was just so emotional.  I just want to say, 
“Well done”.

From listening to everyone, it just goes to show that this legislation is so important.  It is a 
framework.  It is a document that will make everything legal and that is what we want.  We want 
them to be recognised and that is what we need to do.  We need to move on it as quickly as we 
can.  It is so important when one hears the stories, and particularly when it comes to medical 
issues and things like that.

I have been talking to a lot of women recently who have taken the in vitro fertilisation, IVF, 
route.  That is another area where they have to go.  Nobody wants to be in a position where they 
need to.

We need to do this.  When you see children - I saw it at the weekend - and the love that they 
give you, your whole life is changed and it is lovely.  Your whole world is upside down and 
your house is upside.

There are two questions I want to ask.  They are questions I was thinking of the other day.  
Do the witnesses believe transferring parental rights to the intended parents should happen 
before the birth of the child or after?  It is just something I was wondering about.  Would some-
thing like the birth certificates that marked the surrogate mother for tracing purposes later in life 
be something that we may need to look at?

We cannot impose laws for other countries.  We need to lead here.  What core standards 
should be in place to ensure that we protect the rights of all the parties involved?  Is there some-
thing specific there?  Ms Merrigan, in particular, went through many legislative issues.  That 
definitely needs to be looked at.  In general, is there anything there that might make a difference 
to this?

Again, I thank the witnesses.  I am so touched and I am very supportive.  I am fully commit-
ted to doing anything I can do to help.  I do not know who wants to take the questions.  Perhaps 
Ms Merrigan will.

Ms Ciara Merrigan: I am happy to take the first part about the transfer of rights before or 
after birth.  Irish Families Through Surrogacy would be recommending that there is a pre-birth 
approval with an on-birth or post-birth transfer of rights.  That is to ensure that the surrogate 
maintains the autonomy of her own body at all times during the pregnancy.  That would be our 
recommendation.

Deputy Jennifer Murnane O’Connor: I thank Ms Merrigan.   I thank our guests.

Chairman: Has Deputy Murnane O’Connor another question?

Deputy Jennifer Murnane O’Connor: No.  I was touched by the stories as well.  I thank 
the witnesses.

Chairman: Would Ms Wheatley like to come back in?  There is time.

Ms Cathy Wheatley: In terms of what we recommend in Irish Families Through Surro-
gacy or what we would like to see, it is, of course, the ethical process of surrogacy.  Like Ms 
Merrigan, our experience when we started our surrogacy journey was that it was very much a 
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collaboration with the clinics in Ireland.  I went through my stimulation in Ireland and that was 
worked with the clinic over there.  It was a collaborative approach and that is definitely what 
we want going forward.  That is why we feel the role of the regulatory authority is so important.  
It is because we have these systems in place.  We need something to cement it and give it an 
overview.

The legal representation for both parties involved is hugely important to us as an organisa-
tion.  The reason for that, of course, is that we have our representation in Ireland.  We also have 
legal representation in the country where we are availing of surrogacy but the surrogate mother 
herself has that independent legal representation.  That is absolutely huge for us.  In my case, 
when we went there, we met our surrogate, Ivana, who has no problem being named.  We met 
her without anybody involved first.  We had literally a human meeting where we wanted to see 
who she was and whether she was happy to do this, and her reasons for doing it, and then we 
went into the more official process whereby we met with our representation, her representation 
and together we produced a collaborative contract, so that her voice was heard at all times.  That 
is really what we are calling for in that regard.

As we said, counselling is a big deal.  Even before starting the process, we believe people 
should have access to that.  Every woman wants to carry her own child and as one is going 
through the process, there is so much information and so many regulatory bodies, and one must 
meet the requirements of clinics here, clinics over there, etc.  The reality is it is a big deal to 
hand over the most precious gift even from our point of view in terms of our embryos to begin 
with.  To hand that over to somebody else to take care of is huge and, therefore, the intended 
parents definitely need to have counselling to establish how they will feel and how they will 
deal with issues when they arise.  One of the most beautiful things that happened between me 
and my surrogate mother is that when we went there at the 20-week scan, she asked me if she 
could hold her tummy to my tummy so that I could feel her babies’ kick.  In that moment, I 
was blown away by her love, generosity and kindness to be able to do that.  I also wanted to 
make sure that she was okay with that, emotionally.  She was offered counselling at all stages 
throughout pregnancy as well and, most importantly, post birth.  There was a definite push from 
the clinic to get her to avail of counselling.  Ivana would tell you she is a strong woman.  She 
knew what she was doing.  She knew what she was getting into, but she did avail of counsel-
ling, and she found that it really helped her.  One of the things that she said - I do not speak on 
her behalf as she is able to speak very clearly for herself - is that after our surrogacy journey 
was completed, the twins were born and we were back in Ireland, what she missed most was 
the contact between the two of us because in those nine months we were constantly in contact.  
I was so busy.  I had newborn twins and I would ring her and show them to her and she would 
say it was okay that I was busy and it was grand.  One of the reasons she availed of counselling 
was to deal with the fact that the time I had initially was not available, not because I did not 
want that, but because I was caring for newborn babies.  That was a huge issue for her.

The main issue for us is always that our surrogate mothers get to retain autonomy over their 
own bodies.  That is important.  Nobody has the right to say what anybody does.  It was one of 
the things that was really important to us.  Ivana herself would say differently.  She would say 
“Get it done and dusted quickly”.  She would be afraid of her life that she was going to have 
legal responsibility for the children.  That is something that is really important.  As an organisa-
tion, we outline the steps to couples in the absence of regulation and legislation.  That is a role 
we have very much taken on and what we recommend to couples is to make sure that people 
going into it have clear indications of what is best practice.
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Deputy  Jennifer Murnane O’Connor: I thank Ms Wheatley very much.

Senator  Sharon Keogan: I have been very touched by the testimonies here today.  There 
is no doubt that the road to parenthood has not been easy for any of the witnesses.  The stories 
that I have heard today are heartbreaking - having a stillborn baby, losing the baby, being un-
able to give birth and then being denied the chance to adopt, which is really awful, considering 
that there are 140 million children in this world that are orphans.  There are 100,000 orphans in 
Ukraine.  It is difficult to be told one cannot adopt for medical reasons, as was the case with Ms 
Wheatley.  Was adoption an option for anybody else?

I heard what Ms Wheatley said about the surrogate mother, the counselling after the birth 
and the fact that she is touch with her and wants contact.  That emotional bond will be there 
for ever.  You are the mother of her children.  How will that affect Ms Wheatley and her family 
going forward?  How will it affect the children?  How will it affect the surrogate mother in the 
long term?

When Ms Wheatley looked at Ukraine, did she look at some of the issues in terms of what 
the Ombudsman for Children said about surrogacy there?  Why Ukraine in particular?

Ms Cathy Wheatley: Yes, I understand the long-term effects, but I want to put on record 
that the children are not her children; hey are very much our children.

I appreciate Senator Keogan’s comments and understanding of the reasons why we had to 
avail of surrogacy.  In terms of our research and everything that we did, the reason Ukraine was 
hugely important is due to a couple of factors.  First, in order to avail of surrogacy in Ukraine 
you have to be a heterosexual, married couple and you must have a medical reason for undergo-
ing surrogacy.  We met the criteria in that regard.  The lengths to which they go to ensure there 
is a medical reason are robust.  I had to get letters from my fertility doctor and send my child’s 
stillborn certificate to them.  Lots of paperwork was involved before we even got to the point of 
being accepted to undergo surrogacy in Ukraine.

Of course we researched the situation.  The first thing we did, which we would advise any-
one to do, is to get legal advice.  We were very lucky in that the legal representation that we got 
had experience and was able to steer us in the right direction.  At the end of the day, we have to 
be able to make sure that the women carrying our children are being looked after, not just for 
ourselves but for our children.  We bear witness to them.  As Ted and Elsie grow up, I have to 
be able to look them in the eye and tell them that I made sure at every step of the way that the 
woman who carried them was protected.  A couple of ways we did that personally was when 
we went to Ukraine first, we met her without any agency being involved and we had a chat.  
We talked about her motives for doing it, why she wanted to do it and whether we thought it 
would work for all of us together.  Then we had a meeting with the agency, as I said.  One of the 
things that was really important to us was that we spent time alone with her at every step of the 
process, so that she was not being monitored in any way and she had free rein to highlight any 
problems she was having.  We also flew over there when she moved to the city where she was 
going to give birth.  We flew over to check out her accommodation to make sure that it was of 
a proper standard for her and her children who went with her.

We did due diligence to the best we could to make sure that she was absolutely protected.  
After our twins were born, they were in the neonatal unit for ten days.  Ivana was in hospital 
for three days.  When she left the hospital, she came to stay with us.  Because her family lived 
further away, I felt that I had a responsibility to make sure that she was okay as well.  Every day 
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we would go and visit the twins and I asked her if she wanted to come but she would say “No, 
no, I am done.  I will rest and watch TV.”  Of course she did come, which I felt was really im-
portant as well, when we went for the DNA test, so that the Irish officials could be there to make 
sure that she was okay and that she was there of her own free will.  We all travelled together.  
We did not travel separately.  This was very much a relationship that had been built on.  She 
stayed with us after that until she simply had enough of us and she wanted to go home to her 
own family.  That was the point when she left and went home to her boys.  She was taken into 
hospital early and her mother had not yet arrived to look after her children so while she was in 
hospital having my children, I cared for her children.  The relationship that was there was very 
solid.  I trusted her with mine and so she trusted me with hers.  We went through everything that 
we possibly could in that regard.

Ted and Elsie are two and a half now and we speak to Ivana and her children regularly.  We 
send little drawings back and forward.  I can say 100% that she does not consider herself the 
mother of the children, because I am.  Ivana is living with us due to the crisis in Ukraine.  I 
felt like I needed to do something to protect her, just like she had protected my children.  She 
is living with us in a two-bedroom cottage in County Wicklow.  We have three adults and five 
children in our little cottage.  It does not matter if we have no room in the house, however, be-
cause there is plenty of room in our hearts.  We are able to prove to Ivana that when I stood in 
her kitchen and told her she was part of our family-----

Senator  Sharon Keogan: You meant it.

Ms Cathy Wheatley: -----I meant it.

Senator  Sharon Keogan: My heart goes out to you.  You are an incredibly brave woman 
to embrace that mother in the way you have and to bring her and her children into your lives but 
also into your children’s lives as well.  That is an incredibly brave thing to do.

I am sorry that I have to leave the meeting.  One of the things that Ms Wheatley said is that 
she does not exist.  Anyone who gives love to a child exists.  Let me say that here and now.  I 
know this because I fostered four children long term and perhaps 150 in total came through 
my door.  Anyone who gives care and love to a child exists.  They see Ms Wheatley as the par-
ent.  My only concern is that mother who gave birth to her child would always have that title 
as birth mother.  I hope she would not take that in the wrong.  I always see that mother as the 
birth mother.  Ms Wheatley may be the parent or the mother.  She will be able to give that child 
motherly love for the rest of their days.  As a foster mother, I do not see myself as the mother.  
However, I will love those children who have been in my care eternally.  My only concerns are 
that the birth mother would always have that title as such and the children would know their true 
identity going forward in life.  That is my only concern.

Ms Cathy Wheatley: Can I just come back to the Senator on that?  I agree with her that 
the children deserve to know that they were carried by another woman.  The reality of it is, at 
our kitchen table, even though I am not invisible to my children, in the eyes of the law I am 
invisible.  When we have our tea and breakfast in the morning, Ivana is legally their mother in 
Ireland.

Senator  Sharon Keogan: I know.

Ms Cathy Wheatley: It is so difficult.  However, we break it down to the very basics for 
Ted and Elsie and we encourage everybody to do this.  Ted and Elsie, at age two and a half, are 
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able to tell people that mammy’s tummy was broken and Ivana is their tummy mummy.  That is 
how they see it.  Even now, when people come into the house and say, “Where is Ivana?  Who 
is Ivana?”  Ted and Elsie will say, “She is my tummy mummy.”  It is lovely to celebrate the fact 
that is the case.  That will be a lifelong relationship.  I understand what the Senator is talking 
about.

Senator  Sharon Keogan: I suppose nobody wants ghost children in this State.  Nobody 
wants ghost mothers or parents.  We want to give people their full, true identity.  I do not want 
to say legal ownership, because I do not want to commodify children.  I do not want to say that.  
I just do not like that at all, in truth.  We just do not want to have ghost children in our State.  
We need to learn from the mistakes we made years ago in this country.  Whatever legal frame-
work to protect the children that are here today and going forward, we need to put in place.  I 
understand the need to do that.

I am sorry that I have to leave now, but I appreciate all of the witnesses’ statements.  I hope 
they know where I am coming from as a concerned member of this committee.

Ms Ciara Merrigan: I just wish to acknowledge as well that we absolutely want our chil-
dren to know their full identities, such as information on their surrogate mothers and where they 
were born.  They know their full stories.  When I was here previously, we discussed, but I just 
want to reiterate, that the child’s identity is a very important thing to Irish Families Through 
Surrogacy as well.

Senator  Sharon Keogan: That is great.  I appreciate that.

Deputy  Kathleen Funchion: It has been a very emotional kind of session.  I also just want 
to acknowledge Senator Seery-Kearney.  She has been invaluable to me in the context of infor-
mation.  I appreciate her sharing her story, as well as everyone else who is here.

So much has been covered and said.  I have just a few points.  First, I welcome the fact that 
Equality for Children has solutions in its documents and submissions.  We all have a tendency 
to say it is complex, and it is.  However, I have found over the past number of weeks that there 
are actually loads of solutions out there.  It is just a matter of putting them all together in the 
best way we possibly can.  I just wanted to acknowledge that.

Ms Wheatley and Ms Merrigan have kind of already touched an awful lot their personal 
stories.  However, if there is anything else that they want to add, I wish to give them that oppor-
tunity.  I am conscious that, as they said, this is probably was not something they ever envisaged 
happening in their lives.  Even around the whole process and where they first started, some of 
which has already been covered, I just want to give the opportunity to add anything.

I want to ask Ms Keegan about secondary infertility.  Infertility is a very lonely space.  Peo-
ple do not have an understanding of it much of the time and people are very harsh as well in the 
questions that they ask.  Assuming someone gets into a relationship or gets married, people ask, 
“When are the kids arriving?”  Then, if you have a boy, people will ask when you are having 
a girl.  If you have one, people will ask when you are having two.  While people kind of mean 
well, sometimes those comments can be very hurtful.  On secondary infertility, sometimes there 
is a myth that if someone has one child, people will kind of wonder what are they complaining 
about.  Is there anything Ms Keegan wants to say on that?  I acknowledge the work she does and 
the support that she gives to people because, as I said, it is a very lonely space.

The final question is for everyone, if there is time for it.  I refer to other models, for example, 
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the Canadian one.  We will have witnesses in from that jurisdiction and I look forward to that.  
The Canadian model acknowledges the bodily autonomy, which I appreciate.  It has counselling 
and everything built in and there is no delay or question mark over when the rights of parentage 
are transferred over.  It is done at birth.  That is a good system.  I am interested to hear what the 
witnesses think about that.  Are there other models we should be looking at?

Ms Cathy Wheatley: I suppose our stories are very well covered at this point.  One thing 
that has not been covered, however, is the fact that when we started to undergo surrogacy, it 
was very taboo.  Nobody was talking about it.  It was hidden.  I remember going to a NISIG 
meeting and meeting people who were going through it.  My husband thought, “Wow.  These 
are all normal people.  We can do this.”  It was amazing.  One of the things that we are trying to 
do in Irish Families Through Surrogacy as well is to break down those myths around surrogacy 
and tell people the truth, our truth and the reality of it.  Lately, we have been trying so hard to 
raise the social awareness of surrogacy.  Thanks to the likes of the committee and its members 
because it has been invaluable to us to shine a spotlight on it, destigmatise it and take away the 
myths.  As a mother of children born to surrogacy, I do not want my children to be stigmatised 
because of the way that they were born.  Children are children, no matter how they were con-
ceived.  My job, as their mother - all of our jobs - is to fight for them to make sure that in no 
way are they being made to feel different.

This week, I faced the reality of not being able to sign another legal document.  I faced it 
previously when Elsie was sick and I was sitting in the car park at the hospital crying my eyes 
out.  This week, they started playschool.  It was a very exciting day in our household.  Obvi-
ously, when children start playschool, the schools need forms.  I brought the forms home and 
my husband filled them in the night before.  When I was walking my children up to the door to 
playschool, I did not have the same nervous excitement for them or the same emotional feelings 
of them being let out into the real world.  In my stomach, I had the anxiety and upset of knowing 
that I had forgotten those forms that my husband had filled in.  I did not know if my children 
would be turned away that day because of that.  When I got to the door of the playschool, in 
front of all the people there, I had to tell them I did not have the forms and had forgotten them.  
They said that was no problem and to just fill them in now.  In front of all my peers, and my 
children’s peers, I had to say I could do that.  It made me think, as they are taking their first 
steps into the world, about how many other times this will be the case.  How can one tell a child 
who is excited to go on a school trip that mammy cannot sign the permission slip?  How can 
we stand there and know that because of the choices we made and the legislation that is not in 
place they will be discriminated against, if it is not changed?  I cannot let that happen.  I do not 
think any of us can.  Ted and Elsie are my world.  I would do absolutely anything for them, as 
everyone would for their children.  The realisation at that moment at the playschool door was 
then compounded by the fact that the teacher said to Elsie, “Your mother is going to go and get 
the forms” and Elsie said, “She is not my mother”.  I felt like I had been kicked in the stomach.  
In those moments, everything went through my head, including whether she was aware that, in 
law, I am not her mother, and whether she was aware of the conversations we will subsequently 
be having.  It felt like a lifetime but after two seconds she looked at the teacher and said, “She’s 
my mammy.”  That is what it boils down to for me.

Irish Families Through Surrogacy is trying to raise awareness around this.  We have been 
involved in lots of advocacy.  We have done research studies with universities.  We have col-
laborated with international organisations to ensure best practice is in place, even in respect of 
how we talk to our children.  We have been a liaison between our members, the Department 
of Foreign Affairs and Senator Seery Kearney in order to make sure the information is quick, 
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clear and concise to people.  That is all we can do.  We then come here to plead with members 
to make sure I do not have to face days like that any more.  On the issue of recognition, and 
Ted and Elsie understanding, I will pass over to Ms Keegan because NISIG has recently run 
workshops that have been very beneficial to us.

Ms Gillian Keegan: I thank the Deputy for her question.  I know she specifically mentioned 
secondary infertility.  NISIG provides support services to anybody who approaches us.  We 
have a helpline, run by Ms Helen Browne, who started the organisation in 1996.  I say a huge 
“thank you” to her because without her and the other two ladies there would not be any organi-
sation.  There was no awareness in those days.  She said there was nowhere to go to and it was 
very difficult to talk about anything.  The options available in those days for assisted human 
reproduction, AHR, were very limited.  There were some options in helping someone to have a 
baby but many people were not able to get there.  Ms Browne said the world is our oyster now 
in that at least there are options or different procedures we can do.

We hold support meetings.  It is quite interesting because we had our first support meeting 
post-Covid last Saturday.  We held it in the Ashling Hotel in Dublin.  I did not know if anybody 
would turn up, as it was the bank holiday weekend.  I did not think it through properly when 
I was actually booking the room but seven beautiful people turned up.  Some of the conversa-
tions we have in support meetings are with people who are just starting to realise they may need 
a certain amount of help, including people who have been on a journey for quite a while and 
those who may have had one child without too much help, or everything went fine and then 
they suddenly realise.  I remember the husband of one couple who was at the meeting said to 
me they had their first child, who was six or seven, were trying for another child and this whole 
issue has dominated their house.  This couple tried to have their second child and did a number 
of things that did not work.  They then talked to a clinic in another country.  He said he felt that 
even though this couple have a child it kind of dominates the landscape.  Everything is about 
what they will do next and what their plans and options are.

We have people at our meetings who might have tried for a number of years to have a child, 
and may have a number of complex issues, but they also may be talking to us as an organisation 
about maybe not being able to have a child.  That conversation is very hard for anybody to have.  
They might say to me they might have to face the fact they may not be able to have a child.  
They may try for seven years but then there are conversations around how they know when to 
stop.  I have had all these conversations at many different meetings.  When I was at the meeting 
last Saturday, since we had not actually been physically in a room with people for a long time, 
one particular lady spoke who was very upset.  It only happened at the start of the meeting but it 
resonated with everybody.  Even though I had my son with help ten years ago, I could feel that 
it brings people back to that place again.  It can be very challenging for a couple.  At least with 
NISIG, people can come to a meeting and talk to others about couples constantly having that 
tension around what they will do next, how they will manage this and so on.

We are basically here for everybody and do the best we can to support people.  We are 
aligned with fantastic organisations that can help us.  We help each other.  I text Ms Merrigan or 
whatever when I need a little help.  Ms Wheatley mentioned the workshops we have been do-
ing.  Specifically, we did them with couples through surrogacy.  They are counsellor-led, donor 
disclosure workshops.  They are about counsellors guiding people on the nuts and bolts of how 
to start the conversation with their younger children about their origins.  That is something we 
have started doing with a number of groups and we plan to do it in the future.

Deputy  Kathleen Funchion: There might not be time to discuss the Canadian model.  If 
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there is time at the end, we can come back to that.

Chairman: Okay. We will-----

Deputy  Kathleen Funchion: I have not asked two other witnesses questions.

Senator  Lynn Ruane: I have been doing a lot of listening and am trying to process so many 
things.  I am considering whether we move to a situation where we nearly have to prove every 
single ethical framework conversation, such as love and compassion for surrogate mothers, and 
try to balance that with the fact we just need to exercise children’s rights.  At what stage do we 
balance those two things against each other?  People who have this lived experience are held 
responsible, in a sense, to keep portraying how much they care about the process, or care about 
the women who have carried the child for them and so on.  At what stage do we say that is one 
part of it, but we need to do something?

Ms von Meding spoke a lot about the Children and Family Relationships Act and what we 
need to do to improve that.  How do we get to that?  At the end of the day, we will never be 
able to account for every single thing that happens in every single jurisdiction.  It should not be 
constantly on the people here today to have to keep proving they are good people.  It is really 
hard.  They are saying, “I am worthy, I am good”.  How do we shift that?  How do we move 
into actually looking into the raw detail of it and what we need to do to exercise children’s and 
parenting rights in Ireland and take that responsibility away from the representatives?  It is on 
us as well to stop looking for that proof of goodness or proof of ethics and figure out a way to 
do that as legislators in terms of frameworks and where we can and cannot regulate.

I was coming up with questions in my head.  I was intrigued by Ms Wheatley’s meeting with 
Ivana and I wondered if that was an optional matter rather than a protocol.  If I start asking those 
questions, they are so relative to every single situation that, regardless of how Ms Wheatley 
answers that, she cannot account for every single place in the world.  These questions are so 
individual and so relative to people’s experiences that I am trying to figure out in my own head 
how we move away from that and figure out how we ensure our legislation in Ireland is reflec-
tive of our obligations to children and families.  That is more an observation.  I am thinking out 
loud about what we need to do.  Maybe Ms von Meding would like to come in on the Children 
and Family Relationships Act because she focused on that in her presentation.  Where does that 
Act have and not have jurisdiction?  Where can it claim jurisdiction and so on?  What do we 
need to do on that?

Ms Ranae von Meding: I feel very deeply what the Senator said about those of us who 
share our stories feeling the need to prove ourselves as good people.  We are good people, but at 
the end of the day whether we are good people is not the issue.  It is the fact that our children are 
being denied the protection of both of their parents.  While Ms Delargy and I may not have the 
experience of having had a child through surrogacy, we both have the lived and real experience 
of knowing our children do not have the protection of both their parents.

In terms of the Children and Family Relationships Act, we are often asked, given that there 
is a framework now in place, why somebody would choose to go outside that framework.  This 
relates to the draft AHR Bill also because some might say there is a proposed framework and 
ask why somebody would go outside that.  In the context of the Children and Family Relation-
ships Act, there are three reasons - circumstance, cost and choice.  In the case of circumstance, 
there could be a couple who live abroad, had their children abroad and they are fully recognised 
as a family in that jurisdiction regardless of how they conceived, be it through surrogacy or 
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donor-assisted conception.  Once they come back to Ireland those rights are taken away and 
they are no longer viewed as a family.  In my situation, our circumstance meant that we could 
not access the fertility treatment we needed in Ireland, so we went abroad and we had our chil-
dren.  We fought for a long time and, thankfully, we were retrospectively recognised as a family.  
We only got our children’s birth certificates a couple of weeks ago and that was a very special 
day.  I cannot wait to see my friends and colleagues experience that also.  However, because 
of that circumstance and because we went abroad, it means, bizarrely, that if we choose to use 
our remaining embryos that are in a different jurisdiction, they would not be granted the same 
retrospective recognition so we would be back in the same situation.  This is just to illustrate 
the different circumstances in which one might find oneself and fall outside the parameters of 
any existing framework.

In terms of cost, members are aware that the cost of fertility treatment is massive.  For some 
families and individuals it is just not something they can undertake.  They may choose to go 
abroad where the prices may be cheaper or they may choose not to use a clinic at all and do a 
non-clinical procedure, which is not currently covered by the framework.

The final thing is choice.  Most Irish individuals have choice when it comes to reproductive 
autonomy, conception, pregnancy and childbirth, even choosing where and how to give birth.  
However, for some individuals, be they LGBT+ or they have a medical condition that means 
they have to access surrogacy, that choice is often taken away.  LGBT+ people, especially, 
should have the choice of whether they want to conceive through a fertility clinic or not.  I will 
not speak on behalf of my colleague, Ms Delargy, but I know it was important for her and her 
family that they did not conceive through a clinical setting.  Having the choice to use a known 
donor was incredibly important to their family, and I know many families for whom it is incred-
ibly important, but that falls outside of any existing framework.

It is very important, as part of the broader conversation, to look at the Children and Family 
Relationships Act, at what is missing there and at the two-tiered structure that has been created 
where some same-sex female families and their children have equality now and others do not.  
It would be very dangerous to create that type of two-tiered system again in the assisted human 
reproduction Bill.

Chairman: I cannot see if Senator McGreehan is on campus.  We can come back to her.

I refer to the point Senator Ruane made.  She has me thinking now about it.  It is true.  
As part of this process you are expected to come here, tell us your stories and be the perfect 
women, mothers and parents.  It must be a very difficult place to be, to fight for what should be 
rights for your children and truly bare your souls.  However, part of this process is that there is 
a major lack of understanding, and I speak for myself here.  I came into this role not fundamen-
tally knowing what the issues were, although one would hear a few tidbits here and there.  There 
are many misconceptions and a lack of understanding there.  It is a learning experience for us.  
I thank you because it is important that we hear about your lived experiences not only in this 
format here but also in a general public format.  It is important we do that.

I do not have any other questions.  My one question was about the ethical framework and 
the huge responsibility placed on you to do it in a way that everyone would deem acceptable.  
However, that is not your responsibility.  It is the responsibility of legislators to make sure there 
is a regulatory system so that every parent who goes into it knows what the expectations are, 
and to have a set of guidelines for them so they can work through that.
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My other questions have been covered.  Is there anything you wish to add?  I am mindful 
that we need to listen.  Is there anything in particular you would like to cover?  Then, unless 
there are other questions, we will conclude with Senator Seery Kearney.

Senator  Erin McGreehan: I am sorry, Chairman-----

Chairman: We will go to Senator McGreehan and then to Senator Seery Kearney.  Then we 
will go back to our guests for their final comment.

Senator  Erin McGreehan: My apologies.  I have been like a headless chicken all morning 
running in and out.  I thank the witnesses for their contributions.  It is always lovely to see them.  
I thank them for sharing their knowledge, stories and life experiences.  I find it profoundly 
sad and profoundly joyous to listen to the love and the joy they experience with their families 
now.  We all are so lucky.  Like Ms Wheatley, I have endometriosis and it can be a devastating 
disease.  It was devastating for Ms Wheatley and I was in tears hearing her contribution.  It cut 
deep for me, so I thank her for sharing that.  It was not an easy thing to do to share it with us 
here.

A great deal was covered today.  I have some simple questions for Ms Von Meding about the 
2015 Act and the amnesty, where certain families were legally recognised.  I apologise because 
I do not understand all of that, and I want to learn a little more.  If a family has remaining gam-
etes and embryos, do they fall outside that legislation or are they covered by the amnesty?  We 
have the 2015 Act and we are now creating a new AHR Bill.  Are there any lessons, mistakes or 
improvements that we can learn from as we move from then to now?

Ms Ranae von Meding: In terms of retrospective recognition and the amnesty in the 2015 
Act, there is an amnesty for children who fall outside the framework where an anonymous do-
nor was used prior to 2020 or where an international clinic was used prior to 2020.  That is how 
my family and children were granted retrospective recognition.  However, if someone has em-
bryos that were created prior to 2020 and if they are not in an Irish clinic, there is no retrospec-
tive recognition.  If they are in an Irish clinic and they do not meet the criteria but they are in an 
Irish facility and there are existing siblings generated from the same donor, there is a timeframe 
within which those embryos can be used.  I believe it was a two-year period, but I am open to 
correction on that.  There is a very limited window for retrospective recognition.

There is no retrospective recognition where a known donor was used prior to 2020, where 
a non-clinical procedure was used prior to 2020 or when a child is born abroad prior to 2020.

On the learnings, it was wonderful to have the 2015 Act put in place and to create this 
framework where once we had nothing.  It was amazing for all the families who got that day to 
finally celebrate both parents being recognised and both being legally connected to their chil-
dren.  However, as I mentioned before it created a system in which some children were now 
more equal than others and it almost created a minority within a minority.  You had all these 
LGBTQ+ families who had been created through donor-assisted reproduction and you can look 
at two children and say “now you have equality but you do not because you were conceived in a 
clinic and you were not or because you were born in the UK and you were born in Ireland”.  For 
me, that would be the biggest learning to take from that.  We cannot create a system in which 
some children are treated more equally than others.

Senator  Erin McGreehan: I thank Ms von Meding.

Chairman: Senator Seery Kearney wanted to come in and Deputy Funchion had a query 
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about the Canadian model.

Deputy  Kathleen Funchion: Our guests may wish to come back with a written reply.  I am 
conscious we are under time pressure.

Chairman: We have 20 minutes.

Deputy  Kathleen Funchion: Do we?  I thought we had to finish by 12.30 p.m.

Senator  Lynn Ruane: I thought it was 12.30 p.m.

Chairman: Okay, we have gone over.  I apologise.

Senator  Mary Seery Kearney: I thank the Chair.  I think she chairs exceptionally kind-
ly-----

Chairman: About ten minutes too kindly.

Senator  Mary Seery Kearney: -----and I thank her for her great indulgence.  I say that as 
I stretch it a little bit.  Clearly I am exploitative and manipulative.

I thank all members for their contributions but Senator Ruane’s contribution has been a 
seismic shift; I acknowledge her all-time genius but particularly today.  I met a couple and when 
Ms von Meding was on the radio I texted in abruptly about it and did not explain it very well.  
The couple said they feel they have to be the very best lesbians there ever were in the whole 
world.  I started to cry.  I welled up imagining it.  It hit home far too much for me that there is 
this obligation to prove I am not a child-trafficker, not an exploiter of women, that I have not 
bought my child.  I have not done any of those things.  You go on a long list and that arises out 
of the stigma, the stereotyping, the language and the manner in which people are described or 
allusions to the extreme cases.  The norm is the stories in this room and all the other ones behind 
it.  On the one hand it is important we put in due diligence and guidelines but within that we 
need to not be so restrictive we oblige people to prove a relationship with the surrogate mother 
where she does not want it, where it may not be a healthy thing for there to be a relationship.  
Not everyone would necessarily have the boundaries that Ms Wheatley and Ivana have with 
each other.  There is the recognition of vulnerability but also the fact we are going to the heart 
of identity and ensuring a child knows who he or she is, who his or her genetic parents are, his 
or her lived experience of who his or her parents are and the precious place in his or her life of 
the woman who gave birth to him or her.  I thank the Chair.

Chairman: I thank the Senator.  As I did offer, Ms Wheatley wishes to add something.  I 
ask her to be very brief.

Ms Cathy Wheatley: I thank the Chairman.  There was one thing I wanted to pick up on.  I 
thank Senator Ruane for what she said because we very much feel there is a spotlight on us as 
parents and a burden of proof on us to ensure we can show we have done the right thing.  Like 
I said before, we bear witness to our children and they are the ones we answer to.  On some of 
the misconceptions around surrogacy the Chair talked about, in particular to do with a question 
from Senator Keogan earlier on about the surrogate mother and the birth mother and that situ-
ation, in surrogacy and the surrogacy we availed of, the surrogate is a gestational carrier.  She 
has no genetic link to the child.  Obviously she gives birth to the child and her place needs to be 
recognised in that but she is a gestational carrier and that is the term we use that they are happy 
for us to use as well.
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That then leads on to the situation of birth certificates whereby if we have this thing of the 
surrogate being named on the birth certificate, that piece of paper is one your children must pro-
duce regularly throughout their lives.  I would not want to see children who are being in some 
way marked, standing out or stigmatised because there is a birth certificate.  The UN convention 
says our children have the right to a private life and that needs to be upheld.  In that regard, for 
all of our children, that needs to really be considered because this information is their private in-
formation as they go through life.  Obviously, I have been very public with mine but it is about 
who they want to share their story with and who they do not want to.  To have to produce a birth 
certificate that exposes them, given all the crazy things you need your birth certificate for - I do 
not want to see children being stigmatised and do not want to see them being marked in some 
way by the method of their conception.

Ms Ciara Merrigan: If I may come in as well I can reply to Deputy Funchion.  I have 
felt over the last couple of weeks there has been a bit of misunderstanding about the Canadian 
model.  It is important to mention Canadians also go internationally for surrogacy.  Even though 
they have their own domestic model, not all Canadians have their babies through the Canadian 
system.  They also avail of surrogacy in the likes of Ukraine.  They have legislation for interna-
tional and domestic surrogacy so it would be important we look at both of those models.  Irish 
Families Through Surrogacy have sent a submission to the committee and it is all outlined in 
that and the solutions are outlined in that.

Deputy  Kathleen Funchion: I thank Ms Merrigan for that.

Chairman: I thank all our guests for coming in and engaging so honestly with us.  I hope 
we will come out with a good set of recommendations at the end of this entire process.

The joint committee adjourned at 12.47 p.m. until 11 a.m. on Wednesday, 11 May 2022.


